Doctoral thesis from the Department of Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION IN EXPERIMENTAL AUTOIMMUNE NEUROINFLAMMATION

Sana Eltayeb



Stockholm 2007

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitesservice US-AB, Karolinska Institutet. www.us-ab.com © Sana Eltayeb, 2007 ISBN 978-91-7357-197-5

To Anwaar Kordofani & Mustafa Dafalla, To the soul of my friend Munira Kamblawi, To my wonderful parents



In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, Most Merciful

God says:

- It is only those who have knowledge among his slaves that Allah fear-(Fatir, 28)
- The life of this world is only the enjoyment of deception-(Al-Hadîd, 20)
- And Allah likes not any prideful boaster-(Al-Hadid, 23)

ABSTRACT

Neuroinflammatory lesions in the central nervous system (CNS) are characterized by the presence of leukocytes, mainly monocytes/macrophages, derived from the systemic compartment. We believe CC inflammatory chemokine receptors (CkRs), CCR1, CCR5 prerequisite for controlling migration CCR2 and are the of monocytes/macrophages into inflammatory foci. The role of fractalkine (CX3CL1) and its receptor CX3CR1 in the CNS is more unclear, but their expression pattern suggests a role in neuron-microglia interaction.

Chronic rat model for Multiple Sclerosis (MS), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoproteininduced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (MOG-EAE), was employed here to determine the role of these CkRs during neuroinflammation. In situ hybridization histochemistry combined with immunohistochemistry (ISH/IHC) demonstrated high-level of CCR1/CCR5, and moderate-level of CCR2 mRNA expression on mononuclear phagocytes (ED1⁺ GSA/B4⁺) correlated with active demyelination. Expression of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 was substantially reduced during clinical remission. CX3CR1 displayed a low constitutive expression on microglia on the basis of their cellular morphology and positive lectin staining. There was a notably increased density of CX3CR1 mRNA expressing cells within the inflammatory areas, especially during the acute and relapse phase of the perivascular and submeningeal lesions. CCR1 and CX3CR1 were also found to be differentially expressed at the protein level on monocyte/ microglia populations by flow cytometric analysis of leukocytes extracted from the inflamed CNS tissue, confirming nonoverlapping expression. CkR's ligands, MIP-1a (CCL3) and RANTES (CCL5), were found abundantly expressed in neuroinflammatory lesions, but not in the healthy CNS. There was a neuronal expression of CX3CL1 throughout the CNS at all time points examined (constitutive expression), with induced expression on astrocytes within inflammatory lesions.

A low-molecular weight CCR1 selective antagonist was able to potently abrogate both clinical and histopathological signs of the disease during the effector stage of EAE without any signs of peripheral immune compromise. The antagonist also reduced the severity of ongoing disease when given after clinical onset of disease.

In conclusion, the thesis shed light on some of CkRs and provide new information about mechanisms controlling their mRNA expression during neuroinflammation. Because this research carries potential medical implications, detailed knowledge of the roles of specific CkRs and ligands in the CNS in health and in disease and identifying their cellular phenotypes could be of use in the identification of disease mechanisms, and enabling more specific future therapeutic interventions.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Dan Sunnemark, Sana Eltayeb, Erik Wallström, Lena Appelsved, Åsa Malmberg, Hans Lassmann, Anders Ericsson-Dahlstrand, Fredrik Piehl, Tomas Olsson. Differential Expression of the Chemokine Receptors CX3CR1 and CCR1 by Microglia and Macrophages in Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein Induced Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. Brain Pathol. 2003, 13:617-29.
- II. Dan Sunnemark*, Sana Eltayeb*, Maria Nilsson, Erik Wallström, Hans Lassmann, Tomas Olsson, Anna-Lena Berg and Anders Ericsson-Dahlstrand. CX3CL1 (fractalkine) and CX3CR1 expression in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: kinetics and cellular origin. J Neuroinflammation. 2005, 2:17.
- III. Sana Eltayeb, Anna-Lena Berg, Hans Lassmann, Maria Nilsson, Erik Wallström, Tomas Olsson, Anders Ericsson-Dahlstrand and Dan Sunnemark. Temporal expression and cellular origin of CC chemokine receptors CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 in the central nervous system: insight into mechanisms of MOG-induced EAE. J Neuroinflammation. 2007, 4:14.
- IV. Sana Eltayeb*, Dan Sunnemark*, Anna-Lena Berg, Gunnar Nordvall, Åsa Malmberg, Hans Lassmann, Erik Wallström, Tomas Olsson, Anders Ericsson-Dahlstrand. Effector stage CC chemokine receptor-1 selective antagonism reduces multiple sclerosis-like rat disease. J Neuroimmunol. 2003, 142:75-85.

*Contributed equally to the work.

Copyright holders are acknowledged for permission to reproduce the published articles in this thesis

OTHER RELATED PAPERS NOT INCLUDED IN THE THESIS

- I. Anna Lobell, Robert Weissert, Sana Eltayeb, Cecilia Svanholm, Tomas Olsson, Hans Wigzell. Presence of CpG DNA and the local cytokine milieu determine the efficacy of suppressive DNA vaccination in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 1999, 163:4754-62.
- II. Robert Weissert, Anna Lobell, Katrien de Graaf, Sana Eltayeb, Ronald Andersson, Tomas Olsson, Hans Wigzell. Protective DNA vaccination against organ-specific autoimmunity is highly specific and discriminates between single aminoacid substitutions in the peptide autoantigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000, 97:1689-94.
- III. Anna Lobell, Robert Weissert, Sana Eltayeb, Katrien de Graaf, Judit Wefer, Maria Storch, Hans Lassmann, Hans Wigzell, Tomas Olsson. Suppressive DNA Vaccination in MOG-peptide-induced Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Involves a T1-biased Immune Response. J Immunol. 2003, 170:1806-13.
- IV. Henrik Hammarberg, Olle Lidman, Cecilia Lundberg, Sana Eltayeb, Sander Gielen, Saad Muhallab, Anders Svenningsson, van Der Meide, Tomas Olsson, Fredrik Piehl. Neuroprotection by encephalomyelitis: Rescue of mechanically injured neurons and neurotrophin production by CNS-infiltrating T and natural killer cells. J Neurosci. 2000, 20:5283-91.

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 The interplay between the CNS and the immune system	1
	1.2 Trafficking determinants for leukocytes	1
	1.3 Chemokines (Cks)	2
	1.3.1 Chemokine function	3
	1.3.2 Chemokine receptors and their interactions with chemokines	3
	1.3.3 G-proteins signaling	4
	1.3.4 Receptor modulation post-chemokine binding	4
	1.4 Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE)	5
	1.4.1 MOG-induced EAE	5
	1.4.2 Leukocyte trafficking in EAE	5
	1.5 Resident CNS cells with immunological functions	6
	1.5.1 Nerve cells	6
	1.5.2 Glia	6
	1.5.3 Astrocytes	6
	1.5.4 Microglia	6
	1.5.5 Perivascular macrophages	7
	1.6 How to antagonize the chemokine system?	7
	1.6.1 Chemokine receptor antagonist	8
	1.7 Multiple Sclerosis (MS)	8
	1.7.1 Macrophage and microglia in MS	9
	1.7.2 Hallmarks of histopathology MS	10
	1.7.3 MS Treatment-what more can we do?	11
2	AIMS OF THE THESIS	12
3	METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	13
	3.1 EAE induction and profile	13
	3.2 Treatment strategy	13
	3.3 Histopathology	13
	3.4 Tissue in situ hybridization (ISH)	13
	3.4.1 Preparation and labeling of cRNA probes	15
	3.5 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	16
	3.6 Combined ISH/IHC	16
	3.7 Demyelinated plaques and definition of lesional staging	16
	3.7.1 Early active lesions (EA)	17
	3.7.2 Late active lesions (LA)	17
	3.7.3 Inactive complete demyelinated lesions (DM)	17
	3.7.4 Remyelinated shadow plaques (RM)	17
	3.8 Flow Cytometry	17
	3.9 Statistical analysis	17
4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	18
	4.1 Paper I	18
	4.2 Paper II	20
	4.3 Paper III	21
	4.4 Paper IV	22
5	GENERAL DISCUSSION	25

5.1 CCR1 and CCR1 antagonist in EAE and MS	25
5.2 Fractalkine and its receptor CX3CR1 in EAE and MS	
5.3 CCR2 in EAE and MS	27
5.4 CCR5 in EAE and MS	
6 CONCLUDING REMARKS	
7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	31
8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
9 REFERENCES	35

APPENDIX: PAPERS I-IV

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aa	Amino acid
Ab	Antibody
Ag	Antigen
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
Bp	Base Pair
C	Cysteine
CC	β-chemokine
CCR1	Chemokine receptor 1
CCR2	Chemokine receptor 2
CCR5	Chemokine receptor 5
cDNA	Complementary DNA
Ck	Chemokine
CkR	Chemokine receptor
CNS	Central nervous system
cRNA	Complementary RNA
CX3C	δ-chemokines
CX3CL1, FKN	Fractalkine
CX3CR1	Fractalkine receptor
DA	Dark Agouti
EA	Early active (lesion)
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
IA	Inactive (lesion)
DM	Inactive completely demyelinated lesions
IFA	Incomplete Freund's adjuvant
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
ISH	In situ hybridization
LA	Late active (lesion)
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (CCL2)
MIP-1a	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (CCL3)
MIP-1β	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 beta (CCL4)
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MS	Multiple sclerosis
NAWM	Normal appearing white matter
p.i.	Post immunization
PPWM	Periplaque white matter
RANTES	Regulated on Activation, Normal T cells Expressed and Secreted
	(CCL5)
RM	Remyelinated shadow plaque
7-TM	Seven transmembrane
Х	Any amino acid

PREFACE

The challenge of working backwards to identify and predict common factors that may involve in complex humans diseases is immense. This thesis examines the expression pattern of CkRs, to get better insight into their mechanism in the CNS and in lesion evolution. These studies are motivated by similarities of immunological and histopathological features among EAE and MS, where peripheral leukocyte recruitment and activation are critical for disease induction. Therefore, I focused my studies on chronic rat model of the human disease MS; MOG-induced EAE.

Identifying chemokines and receptors associated with this rat model might provide useful additions to the therapeutic armamentarium for MS, and it gives the pharmaceutical industry the clue about why, when, where, which chemokine/receptor to inhibit, since they are potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

Enjoy your reading!

1 INTRODUCTION

Neuroimmunology research encompasses investigations on functional interactions between the nervous system and immune system. Although the CNS has been characterized as an immunologically privileged site in the past, it should more accurately be viewed as immunologically specialized, since both local innate and systemic immunity do occur in the brain. Neuroinflammation and demyelination often has severe consequences on the afflicted individual, resulting in impaired nerve conduction and paralysis. During the past decade, crucial components that are involved in the process of leukocyte migration have been identified and progress has been made in understanding the mechanisms of neuroinflammatory reactions. Considerable research effort appears to confirm that Cks have largely to do with inflammation and host defence, and that leukocyte recruitment and traffic is their main task Understanding the molecular networks that regulate these processes is of key importance in the development of appropriate therapy in neuroinflammatory disorders including MS.

1.1 The interplay between the CNS and the immune system

Leukocyte entry into the CNS is restricted, in part, because of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), as such, the CNS has been regarded as an immune privileged organ with the barrier that restricts and modifies inflammatory cell recruitment [1]. Recently, much progress has been made with respect to the control of leukocyte extravasation [2-6], and components that are involved in the process of leukocyte migration in neuroinflammatory reactions have been identified [5]. In recent years, some experiments have indicated that the CNS itself may have an innate immune system comprised of astrocytes and microglia capable of regulating the initiation and progression of immune responses. Thus, immunological privilege should be considered as an intrinsic property of the CNS that could involve direct CNS immune cell interactions [7]. Moreover, Lassmann et al., have suggested that microglial cells may play an important role in antigen (Ag) recognition at the BBB [8].

Recently, three distinct routes were found for leukocytes to enter the CNS; i.e., from the blood to cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) across the choroid plexus; from the blood to the subarachnoid space through meningeal vessels; and from the blood to parenchymal perivascular spaces [5]. Attachment of leukocytes to endothelium that enables leukocytes to roll along the blood vessel wall is the early step of leukocyte extravasation (see Fig.1). However, the maintenance of leukocyte–endothelial interactions is further needed to complete transendothelial migration and is believed to be triggered mainly by Cks [9], which govern leukocyte–endothelial migration in a gradient-dependent fashion by regulating integrin adhesiveness. Thus, such chemoattractant gradients specify the leukocyte migration into the CNS [10, 11].

1.2 Trafficking determinants for leukocytes

Leukocyte extravasation is associated with selectins and their ligands, integrins and cell-adhesion molecules (CAMs), Cks and CkRs (Fig.1). The initial contact between

leukocyte and endothelial cell is referred to as **tethering**, subsequent interactions are referred to as **rolling**. Both steps are associated with selectins and their carbohydrate ligands. These molecules distributed both on leukocyte microvilli; where they mediate both tethering and rolling, and on the cell soma; where only rolling occurs [12-14]. Later stages of extravasation, require the engagement of a G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) expressed by the leukocyte with an appropriate ligand [4]. This thesis focuses on the Cks and their receptors, which mediate the activation of integrins [15]. The final stage of extravasation is **diapedesis**, that depends on a second set of signals through



Figure 1: The four events of leukocytes transendothelial migration from blood stream to site of inflammation

1.3 Chemokines (Cks)

Cks and their receptors [16-18].

Cks are a family of structurally-related and secreted glycoproteins with potent leukocyte activation and/or chemotactic activity [19, 20]. They are 70 to 90 amino acids (aa) in length and approximately 8 to 10 kDa in molecular weight. Most of them fit into two subfamilies with four cysteine residues. These subfamilies are base on whether the two amino terminal cysteine residues are immediately adjacent or separated by one aa.

The CXC subfamily, also known as (α -Cks) contain a single aa between the first and second cysteine residues (see Fig. 2). CC subfamily (or β -Cks) have adjacent cysteine residues. Most CXC Cks are chemoattractants for neutrophils, whereas CC Cks generally attract monocytes, lymphocytes, basophils, and eosinophils.

There are also two other small sub-groups [21, 22]. C subfamily (or γ -Cks) has one member lymphotactin. It lacks one of the cysteines in the four-cysteine motif. The C subfamily seems to be lymphocyte specific, and attract T cell precursors to the thymus.

The fourth subfamily is the C-X3-C (or δ -Cks), has three as residues between first two cysteine (Fig. 2). It is both secreted and tethered to the surface of the cell that expresses it, thereby serving as both chemoattractant and as an adhesion molecule. The only CX3C Ck discovered to date is called CX3CL1 (neurotactin or FKN) [23]. FKN

receptor is known as CX3CR1 [24, 25]. FKN directs migration of monocytes, T cells and NK cells *in vitro* [26]. The known Ck system in humans comprises approximately 50 ligands and 19 couple receptors [27, 28]. They signal through seven transmembrane (7-TM) domain GPCRs [29].

1.3.1 Chemokine function

The major role of Cks is to guide the migration of cells. Cells that are attracted by them follow a signal of increasing Ck concentration towards the source of the Ck. Some Cks control cells of the immune system during processes of immune surveillance, such as directing lymphocytes to the lymph nodes, known as **homeostatic** Cks that are produced and secreted without any need to stimulate their source cell(s). Some Cks have roles in the development and promote **angiogenesis** or guide cells to tissues that provide specific signals that are critical for cellular maturation. Other Cks are **inflammatory**, that are released from a wide variety of cells in response to infection, viruses and agents that cause physical damage. **Inflammatory** Cks function mainly as chemoattractants for leukocytes, recruiting monocytes, neutrophils and other effector cells from the blood to sites of infection or tissue damage. Certain inflammatory Cks can also activate cells to initiate an immune response or can promote wound healing. They can be released by many different cell types and serve to guide cells of both innate immune system and adaptive immune system [10, 30-32].

Characteristic	Definition
Pleiotrophy	A single Ck acts on several different types of target cells and stimulates different responses
Redundancy	Two or more different Cks induce a similar response
Synergism	The combined effect of two Cks is greater than might be expected for only one Ck
Antagonism	A drug or other molecule that blocks receptors; antagonists inhibit the effects of agonists.

Table 1. Functional characteristic of chemokines

1.3.2 Chemokine receptors and their interactions with chemokines

Cks can not exert their functions unless they interact directly with cell surface CkRs that belong to GPCRs [29]. CkRs are members of a superfamily of 7-TM loops with an extracellular amino terminal (NH2) segment (3 extracellular loops) and cytoplasmic carboxylic terminus (3 intracellular loops) [33]. The N-terminal portion of CkRs is key to determining ligand binding specificity (see Fig. 2). They transduce their signals through heterotrimeric G proteins ($G\alpha\beta\gamma$) leading to multiple biologic functions. They produce their effect through a cascade of intracellular events that begin with binding of Cks to their respective receptors, leading ultimately to activation and/or directed migration of the cells. CkRs are structurally related and can be categorized into specific, shared, promiscuous, and are expressed in immune cells which are their major

target [34, 35]. Because of this feature, they may be potent mediators of inflammatory processes. Many other cell types express CkRs, these include endothelia, smooth muscle cells, stromal cells, neurons and epithelial cells [36]. Targeting CkRs offer a novel approach with the rationale of preventing the recruitment of undesirable leukocytes to site of inflammation [37]. There are 19 known CkRs, whose functional ligands are identified CXCR1-CXCR5, CCR1-CCR11, XCR1 and CX3CR1 [35, 38, 39].



Figure 2: The four subfamilies of chemokines, CXC, CC, C, and CX3C, with their region binding to chemokine receptor (adopted from © 2003 Townson and Liptak).

1.3.3 G-proteins signalling

When GPCRs are activated by agonists, heterotrimeric **G** proteins $(G\alpha\beta\gamma)$ undergo their own activation steps. Usually, in its resting state, **G** α is the GDP-bound form and associates tightly with **G** $\beta\gamma$. Upon activation of the receptor, **G** α becomes GTP bound via intrinsic GDP/GTP exchange activity and dissociates from **G** $\beta\gamma$. Activated **G** α or free **G** $\beta\gamma$ subsequently activates downstream targets [40]. Major effectors for **G** α are adenylyl cyclase and phospholipase β depending on G α coupling to receptors, whereas G $\beta\gamma$ is believed to play a major role in activating an array of downstream targets [41].

1.3.4 Receptor modulation post-chemokine binding

When CkR-expressing cells are repeatedly stimulated with a Ck, signaling becomes attenuated by a process known as receptor desensitizations or **sequestrations** [42]. Mechanisms for such receptor downregulation after ligands binding to GPCRs have been established [43]. Upon ligand binding, the C-terminal tails of GPCRs are rapidly phosphorylated at serine or threonine residues. Phosphorylation directly alters receptor conformation in such a way that the interaction with heterotrimeric G protein is impaired. Turnication or mutation of these serine or threonine residues of the C-terminal tails of CkRs results in impairment of receptor internalization [44].

1.4 Experimental models of neuroinflammation

Experimental studies to find disease mechanisms and etiological factors in human diseases such as MS, would be virtually impossible if no animal models were used. Furthermore, the CNS is relatively inaccessible for sampling in humans. EAE models offer clues in elucidating the etiopathogenesis of MS. Myelin antigens such as myelin basic protein (MBP) [45], proteolipid protein (PLP) [46] and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) [47] are most commonly used Ags for induction of EAE in rodents. EAE is a disease with proven autoimmune pathogenesis [48, 49]. The origin of EAE was discovered when humans received a vaccine against rabies virus that contained CNS homogenate. Genetic underlies the second line of evidence. The major histocompatibility complex (MHC), in particular MHC class II genes [50, 51] is so far, the only gene region associated with disease susceptibility. The use and effect of immunomodulatory therapies strengthens the concept of autoimmunity.

1.4.1 MOG induced EAE

MOG comprises only 0.05 % of the myelin sheath and is exposed on the outer surface of myelin sheath [52-54] making it accessible to autoantibodies [55]. Dark agouti (DA) is a susceptible rat strain, displaying a relapsing-remitting clinical course as well as histopathological MS-like features when immunized with MOG in Incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA) [56]. The disease is characterized by early (day 12) acute paralysis, followed by a sustained chronic clinical course, extensive inflammation and demyelination coincided with clinical signs of the disease [57, 58]. Some studies are suggesting that B cells and antibodies (Abs) are necessary for the development of EAE [59-62], as well as studies implying the opposite [63, 64].

1.4.2 Leukocyte trafficking in EAE

Leukocyte migration into and through tissues is fundamental to normal physiology, immunopathology and host defence. Accumulation of leukocytes in tissues contributes to a wide variety of diseases [65]. Some immune reactions are suspected of being deleterious, such as the inflammatory demyelinating disease MS [66]. Conversely, in response to tumors of astroglia, the immune reaction in the brain seems inadequate to protect the host [67]. In EAE, circulating leukocytes penetrate the BBB and damage myelin, resulting in impaired nerve conduction and paralysis [68].

After following leukocyte traffic into the CNS of rats with EAE [69] a limited repertoire of T cells named the primary influx found to interact with their target Ag leading to the activation of the BBB to express various adhesion molecules and to increase its permeability to circulating leukocytes [69, 70]. Enhanced permeability of the barrier further allowed a nonselective influx of leukocytes that named as the secondary influx. The later influx was found to correlate with disease onset [69, 71] defining the process as a sequential multistep event. Subsequently, Ag-specific autoimmune T cells either become anergic or undergo programmed cell death (apoptosis), leading to a remission in disease severity [72]. Inhibition of the secondary influx, by either soluble peptide therapy or anti-adhesion molecule blockade, effectively prevented, or even reversed, an ongoing disease, even though, the primary influx remained apparent at the site of

inflammation [69-71, 73]. The aforementioned study emphasized the important role of the nonselective leukocyte influx to site of inflammation. However, immune cell migration is also critically important for the delivery of protective immune responses to tissues. Thus, the challenge for the future will be to identify the trafficking molecules that will most specifically inhibit the key subsets of cells that drive disease processes without affecting the migration and function of leukocytes required for protective immunity [65, 74].

1.5 Resident CNS cells with immunological functions

1.5.1 Nerve cells

Nerve cells or **neurons**, are specialized to carry "*messages*" through electrochemical process and constitute the signaling units of the CNS. They come in many different shapes and sizes. The human brain has approximately 100 billion neurons [75]. Morphology of the nerve cell include its **cell body**, specialized extensions called **dendrites** and **axons**. Dendrites bring information to the cell body and axons take information away from the cell body. Neurons also contain some specialized structures known as (synapses) and chemicals (neurotransmitters). They communicate with each other through electrochemical process, and conduct information within the cell, *chemical signals* transmit information between cells. Neurons are fragile and fastidious cells unable to withstand long-lasting exposure to toxic molecules. Under normal and under pathological conditions, neuronal well being and functioning are highly dependent on glial cells that sustain the abundance of neuron-supporting function [76].

1.5.2 Glia

Comparing to neurons, there are about 10 to 50 times more glial cells in the brain. Glia cells do not carry nerve impulses (action potentials), but in fact, without glia, the neurons would not work properly. Glial cells are classified into **macroglia** and **microglia**. Macroglia includes astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells.

1.5.3 Astrocytes

Star-shaped glial cells of neuroectodermal lineage that provide physical and nutritional support for neurons, they: 1) clean up brain "debris"; 2) transport nutrients to neurons; 3) hold neurons in place; 4) digest parts of dead neurons; 5) regulate content of extracellular space, and perhaps performing immune function in the adult CNS [77]. 40-50% of glial cells are astrocytes. Under pathological conditions, astrocytes respond to changes in the CNS tissue and play a major part in reactive gliosis and the formation of scar tissue [78]. The phenotype exhibited by reactive astrocytes is characterized by hypertrophy and proliferation, as well as elevated expression of intermediate filaments glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) [79]. GFAP was originally purified from MS plaques and has become one of the indicators of reactive astrogliosis [80].

1.5.4 Microglia

Microglia are a hybrid between white cells and glial cells and account for approximately 10% of all glial cells in the adult CNS [81]. The fascinating point about them is that they are supportive and immunocompetent defense cells, and digest parts of dead neurons [82]. Microglia are most likely to function as antigen- presenting cells (APCs) [83-85] but the immune competence of microglia within the CNS is limited compared with APCs within other organs [86, 87]. When the BBB is disrupted during autoimmune disease, cells from the blood gain access to the brain parenchyma and to brain Ags, but microglia reside in the CNS parenchyma does not usually encounter T cells. This is perhaps not surprising, since the CNS also harbors other macrophages that are not part of parenchyma, populate the critical interface between the CNS parenchyma and the blood known as perivascular cells [88].

1.5.5 Perivascular macrophages

The CNS contains various macrophage subsets, including microglia, perivascular macrophages, meningeal macrophages, choroid plexus macrophages and epiplexus cell [5, 89, 90]. The so-called "other CNS macrophages" or perivascular macrophages [91] are derived from the bone marrow and situated in the vicinity of the blood vessel of the CNS, separated from the CNS parenchyma by the perivascular basement membrane. They represent a subset that is phenotypically distinct (CD11b/c+ and CD45^{hi}) from parenchymal microglia which are (CD11b/c+ and CD45^{low}), and they have immunological properties of peripheral accessory cells. Because of their location, these cells are likely to come into contact with CNS Ag and present it to T lymphocytes. Perivascular macrophages express constitutively MHC class II and have been proposed as to be among the first cells to be involved in immune reactions in the CNS. They also express the marker ED2, in contrast to the ED2-negative parenchymal microglia. The functions of perivascular cells have been reviewed by [92-95]. Meningeal macrophages are thought to be rapidly replaced by cells of bone-marrow origin, whereas the replacement of perivascular and choroid-plexus macrophages is slower, indicating that replacement of the individual populations might occur through different mechanisms. Microglial cells can proliferate in situ, and this might be one of the main sources of microglia in adults. Bone marrow-derived cells can enter the CNS across the BBB and populate the microglial-cell compartment. Monocytes are assumed to be capable of entering the CNS and differentiating into microglia [90].

1.6 How to antagonize the chemokine system?

There are several levels to prevent inflammation by interfering with the Ck system. The expression of either ligand or receptor could be prevented by inhibiting their transcription. Another possibility to block the action of ligand or receptor is by using neutralizing mAbs, or to prevent Ck binding to receptor and subsequent activation is by using CkR antagonists that may take the form of small molecule antagonists or modified Cks. Lastly, it could be by inhibiting the signal transduction pathways that are triggered by activation of receptor by its ligand [96], [37].

1.6.1 Chemokine receptor antagonist

7-TM receptors are favorite target for the pharmaceutical industry since numerous drugs currently in use as therapeutics act on this class of receptors.

The approach to identify an antagonist is to screen the compound library with a high throughput 125 I-MIP-1 α binding assay [97].

Molecular basis of Ck/receptor interaction as a scope for a design of antagonist, suggested two-step mechanisms [98]. The main body of the Ck interacts with the outside of the receptor (called site 1), this interaction directs receptor selectivity; subsequently, the flexible amino-terminus of the Ck interacts with the receptor core (called site 2) to initiate signaling response [98].

Cks have an *in vivo* requirement to bind to glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) in order to mediate directional cell migration. Preventing of GAG interaction has been shown to be a viable therapeutic strategy. Targeting Ck intracellular signaling pathways offers an alternative small-molecule approach. One of the key signaling targets downstream of a variety of CkRs is phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma (PI3Kgamma), a member of the class I PI3K family. Thus the Ck system offers many potential entry points for innovative anti-inflammatory therapies for autoimmune diseases such as MS [99]. Recently, a number of pharmaceutical companies have disclosed significant efforts in discovering CkR antagonists to combat inflammatory diseases models [89, 100-104]. Recent data from Berlex group has appeared in the literature about CCR1 antagonists [97]. The compound per se, was found to be effective in reducing the severity of attack and delaying onset of disease in Lewis rat, the monophasic model for MS [105] Moreover, much work has focused on the development of CCR5 inhibitors as anti-HIV agents from Takeda laboratory [106, 107].

The Ck system appears problematic as a therapeutic target, in view of its apparent redundancy and overlapping receptor-ligand profiles. But despite the large number of CkRs, it is possible to find molecules that are selective for one CkR compared with another, whether such selectivity is needed *in vivo* is still not clear [37].

1.7 Multiple Sclerosis (MS)

MS is a chronic inflammatory demyelinating disease of the human CNS, and is the most common cause of neurological disability in young adults in the western world [108, 109]. The etiology of MS is still unknown, but it is generally accepted that it involves CNS-directed autoimmune responses. Whether these responses are primarily raised against "self" CNS components or whether they are induced by cross-reactivity between CNS components and infectious agents (molecular mimicry) is unclear [110-113]. Genetic susceptibility also show a major genetic component in susceptibility to MS [114, 115].

The disease is mediated by extensive infiltration of monocytes and T lymphocytes into the CNS followed by resident macrophage and microglia activation (Fig. 3). This results in extensive inflammation and subsequent demyelination of white matter. The disease usually manifesting its self as discrete with recurrent attacks. These attacks are followed by remission (relapsing-remitting RRMS). Later, however, the relapsingremitting course often blends into a slow, but permanent progression (secondary progressive SPMS) [116, 117]. Lucchinetti et al., 1998 have speculated that MS might be a neurological syndrome with different immunopathological mechanisms triggering a common pathway, rather than a single disease with a uniform mechanism of myelin destruction.

Many immune abnormalities have been described in MS, which indicate that the immune system plays a central role in its pathogenesis [118-120]. The current consensus is that MS pathogenesis comprises an initial inflammatory phase, which fulfils the criteria for an autoimmune disease [121], followed by a phase of selective demyelination and at last a neurodegenerative phase [118, 122]. The crucial role of the immune system in disease pathogenesis has important therapeutic implications [123-125]. Cks participate in the development of MS by guiding immune cells into the brain, and several studies have shown that Ck and their receptors are involved in the pathogenesis of MS [126-130].



Pathological manifestions in MS

Figure 3: This figure illustrates hypothetical points about the pathogenesis of MS and EAE, where circulating leukocytes (monocyte/macrophages) penetrate the BBB and damage myelin, resulting in impaired nerve conduction and paralysis

1.7.1 Macrophage and microglia in MS

A key issue in understanding the pathogenesis of MS is the reliable identification of phagocytes capable of degrading myelin and presenting autoantigen to T cells at the onset of demyelination. Most MS research has been focused on T cells, although evidence is accumulating for macrophages as important effector cells involved in the demyelination [131-133]. Highest numbers of macrophages and intense infiltration was seen in early and late active lesions in acute MS cases, while lower numbers were encountered in inactive, demyelinated, or remyelinated lesions. These findings indicate a differentiated pattern of macrophage activation in MS depending on the stage of the demyelinating activity [131]. Evidence for activation of microglia in the immediate vicinity of the lesion has also been obtained [134-136]. Some results indicate that microglia are the main population of phagocytes in the early stages of demyelination

and may play an important role in the pathogenesis of MS [137]. Loss of myelin appears to involve the active stripping of myelin lamellae by macrophages and/or microglia [138-140]. In accordance with this, elimination of macrophages or microglia have been shown to suppress clinical and histopathological manifestations in rodent models for MS [141, 142]. Thus, the central role of macrophages/microglia as active mediators of demyelination suggests that pharmacological intervention (infiltration and activation) of these cells may reduce or halt the clinical progression in MS.

1.7.2 Hallmarks of histopathology in MS

MS selectively affects the myelin sheaths that help speed the conduction of nerve signals from point to point, and damage to the myelin is eventually replaced by scar-like tissue, which further interferes with nerve signaling. The BBB loses barrier function during large-scale of leukocyte transmigration and permits exposure of parenchymal CNS cells to serum components. Thus, an MS lesion consists of Ag-specific autoreactive T-cells, secondary recruited inflammatory monocyte/ macrophages, activated microglia and activated cerebrovascular endothelium [109, 120, 143]. Beside the myelin sheaths being primary target of tissue destruction, axons, nerve cells (leaves the nerves cells and axons-at least in part-intact) and astrocytes were also affected. Active disease can usually be shown by gadolinium-enhanced magnatic resonance imaging (MRI) [144]. The pathology underlying MS is the formation of multiple demyelinated plagues. Lesions are widely disseminated in the CNS, with the predilection of myelinated areas; the optic nerve, periventricular white matter, corpus callosum, cerebellum and cervical cord [145]. The demyelination is associated with persistent inflammation of the white matter. Therefore, our knowledge concerning the histopathology of MS is derived mainly from studying white matter plaques. During the disease course new lesions are formed and old lesions persist, therefore, the inflammatory and demyelination activity often varies between the plaques [140]. New lesions typically evolve around small and medium sized vessels.

Four different patterns of lesions have been described [133]. Pattern (I and II) are the most prominent lesions in MS, with close similarities to EAE lesions. **Pattern I**; and **pattern II**; display a T cell mediated inflammation and macrophage-mediated demyelination. The other patterns (III and IV) were highly suggestive of a primary oligodendrocyte dystrophy, reminiscent of virus or toxin-induced demyelination rather than autoimmunity. The patterns of demyelination were heterogeneous between patients, but were homogenous within multiple active lesions from the same patient. This heterogeneity of plaques from different MS patients may have fundamental implications for diagnosis and therapy of this disease [123, 132].

Actively demyelinating lesions are heavily infiltrated by macrophages and activated microglial cells (involved in disintegration, uptake and removal of myelin sheaths), and invading T cells [146]. Macrophages contain myelin degradation products due to recent myelin phagocytosis and show a foamy phenotype [131]. Ramified microglial cells secrete high amounts of cytotoxic mediators, which are directly responsible for demyelination and oligodendroglial and neuroaxonal injury [147]. Astrocytes are large, often multinucleated and show strong immunreactivity for GFAP, and also engage demyelinated axons, thus substituting in part for the lost myelin sheath [148].

The extent of acute axonal damage correlates with the existence of macrophage/microglia [149]. Axonal damage and loss is an irreversible process that leads to severe and permanent neurological deficits in MS. Recently, an evidence postulated that axonal loss rather than demyelination underlies the progression of MS, and thus, constitutes a therapeutic target [150]. Oligodendrocytes perform some degree of remyelination in humans [151] and in animal lesions also [152].

1.7.3 MS Treatment-what more can we do?

The ultimate goal of research in MS is the development of intervention that could improve the life of those living with MS and possibly cure them. However, the understanding of MS disease process is not yet sufficient to predict which therapeutic strategies will be most effective. Even though, several therapeutic drugs are available, none have emerged as an ideal treatment that delays myelin destruction and halts disease progression. The crucial role of the immune system in the disease pathogenesis has important therapeutic implications.

Two classes of **immunomodulatory** agents, **interferon-\beta** and **glatiramer acetate** (Copaxone), since the 1990:ies have been approved for the treatment of MS [153, 154]. They reduce disease activity, and also reduce the progression of disability in relapsing-remitting MS. These disease-modifying drugs are neither a cure, nor are effective for all patients. **Natalizumab** (Tysabri) is the most recently approved monotherapy for the relapsing forms of MS. Natalizumab exerts its immunologic effects by targeting the α -4 **integrin** receptor, the molecule responsible for the migration of leukocytes from the blood into inflamed tissues.

Immunomodulators which shift immune responses from Th1 towards more beneficial anti-inflammatory Th2 that are secreted by regulatory T cells have been partially effective in clinical trials [155, 156]. In the search for more efficacious agents, many new drugs are under investigation in preclinical and clinical trials, but several promising approaches have failed [157-160].

One of the characteristics of inflammation is the recruitment of leukocytes to the site of inflammation. The Ck system has been validated as providing good therapeutic targets by several approaches [101, 105-107]. The important role-played by Cks in MS pathogenesis is the main rationale behind using them for treatment [124, 161]. CkRs have proven to be excellent targets by the pharmaceutical industry for many inflammatory diseases models. They have shown to be effective in rat heart transplant rejection [102], rabbit allograft rejection [162] monophasic rat model for MS [163] as well as inhibiting HIV-1 infection [106].

Recently CkR antagonist, as a new class of drugs, has been introduced in clinical practice in MS [164]. A novel CCR1 antagonists, **BX471** (also known as ZK811752), is a potent selective orally available agent that was safe in Phase 1 clinical trials in MS [165], but unsuccessful in larger Phase II trials. In addition, a small molecule CCR1 antagonist BX 471, is currently in Phase II clinical trials [166, 167].

2 AIMS OF THE THESIS

The aim of this thesis was to determine the role of the Ck system specifically the CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and CX3CR1 receptors in the development of autoimmune neuroinflammation. A key issue in understanding the pathogenesis of MS is the reliable identification of phagocytes capable of degrading myelin

Specifically we aimed to:

- I. Characterize the pre-symptomatic, acute and remission stages of MOG-EAE, as well as rats at various stages of relapse, regarding CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and CX3CR1 expression.
- **II.** Quantify CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and CX3CR1 mRNA-expressing cells in relation to the stage of demyelinating activity: EA lesions, LA lesions, DM lesions and PPWM.
- **III.** Map if there is a differential CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and CX3CR1 expression in resident microglia cell and blood-derived monocytes/macrophages.
- **IV.** Explore the effects of a low-molecular weight CCR1 selective antagonist on the course of rat MOG-EAE.
- **V.** Determine the expression of the receptor ligands CCL3, CCL5 and CX3CL1 in relation to the findings above.

3 METHODLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The main materials and methods used in papers included in this thesis are listed below. For specific details, see each separate paper.

3.1 EAE induction and profile

Chronic relapsing EAE was induced in female DA rats at 10-14 weeks of age by intradermal immunization with the N-terminal sequence of recombinant rat MOG (aa 1-125) [168] in Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant (Difco, Detroit, MI), in rats anaesthetized with methoxyflurane (paper I-IV). Chronic of long duration, a term often used to describe a disease that becomes progressively worse. Seven days after immunization, body weight and clinical score were daily recorded. Ataxia is unsteadiness and lack of co-ordination that result from the brain's failure to regulate the body posture and the strength and direction of limb movements. Ataxia is most often caused by disease activity in the cerebellum. A disease remission was defined as a lessening in the severity of symptoms or their temporary disappearance during the course of the illness. A relapse is return of the manifestations of a disease after an interval of improvement.

3.2 Treatment strategy

Disease-modifying therapy is a treatment intended to influence the course of the disease and alter its natural history. Treatment with CCR1 selective antagonist (paper IV), was run on two different experimental occasions: Group (A) before the onset of clinical disease; rats were injected subcutaneously twice a day with 13.3 mg/kg of CCR1 antagonist for 5 consecutive days; and Group (B) after clinical onset of disease; rats were subjected to same treatment protocol. There were 12 rats per treated group. Vehicle-treated MOG-EAE rats were served as controls.

3.3 Histopathology

At different time points, brain, spinal cord and peripheral organs (heart, lung, liver, spleen, and kidney) were removed from rats, transcardially perfused with PBS followed by 4% paraformaldehyde and processed for light and electron microscopy. Paraffinembedded tissue sections (4 μ m) were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E), Luxol fast blue (LFB)/periodic acid Schiff (PAS), and Bielschowsky silver impregnation, to detect inflammatory infiltrates, demyelination, and axonal loss, respectively [58], (paper I-IV).

3.4 Tissue in situ hybridization histochemistry (ISH)

Nucleic acid hybridization is a fundamental tool in molecular genetics which takes advantage of the ability of individual single-stranded nucleic acid molecules to form double-stranded molecules (that is to hybridize to each other). The interacting singlestranded molecules must have a sufficiently high degree of base complementary. Standard nucleic acid hybridization assays involve using a labeled nucleic acid probe to identify related DNA or RNA molecules (that with a significantly high degree of sequence similarity) within complex mixture of unlabeled nucleic acid molecules (the target nucleic acid). There are many different ways to do ISH including probing with cDNAs, cRNAs, or synthetic oligonucleotides. There are also multiple ways of labeling these probes using radioactive (³H, ³²P, ³³P, ³⁵S) or non-radioactive (biotin, alkaline phosphatase, digoxigenin, fluorescent) nucleotides. ³⁵S riboprobes represent the most sensitive method for the detection of mRNA in tissue sections [169].

Table 2. Comparison of different labeling strategies for *in situ* hybridization ranked according to their relative sensitivity (according to Wilcox 1993).

 $\begin{array}{l} Riboprobes > cDNAs > Synthetic oligomers\\ {}^{35}S > {}^{32}P > {}^{3}H >> biotin/digoxigenin\\ Frozen > Paraffin \end{array}$

In this thesis work (paper **I-IV**), we mainly used radioactive single-stranded RNA probes (³⁵S), also called complementary RNA (cRNA) or riboprobes, to study the mRNA expression of a single protein. cRNA or riboprobes (Riboprobe® is actually a registered trademark of Promega Corporation) are often used for in situ hybridization because:

1. They are extremely sensitive (due to the fact that they can be labeled to high specific activity during probe synthesis)

2. RNA-RNA hybrids are more stable than DNA-RNA hybrids and

3. Non-specific tissue signals can be removed after hybridization with RNase A since RNA duplexes (representing specific binding) are resistant to degradation by RNase A. In addition, it allows quantification of the hybridization signals, either on film autoradiographs or at the cellular level.

One major disadvantage of using RNA probes is the amount of effort required to actually prepare these probes.



Figure 4: Preparation of RNA probe for in situ hybridization by *in vitro* transcription.

3.4.1 Preparation and labeling of cRNA riboprobes

RNA probes are usually prepared by *in vitro* transcription (Fig. 4). The RNA probe is transcribed from a linear DNA template using highly specific bacteriophage DNAdependant RNA polymerases from the Salmonella bacteriophage SP6, and the E. coli. bacteriophages T3 and T7 (RNA polymerase T7, T3 or SP6). Therefore, sufficient quantities of a plasmid carrying the gene sequence of interest that can be used as the template for RNA probe synthesis must be obtained. Furthermore, before a riboprobe can be transcribed the correct RNA polymerase promoter sequences must be available in the plasmid in the correct orientation with respect to the template sequence. If the cloned gene exists in a plasmid lacking these promoter regions the investigator is forced to subclone the gene into a more suitable vector. For example the transcription vectors pGEM (SP6 and T7 promoters, Promega) and pBluescript (T3 and T7 promoters, Stratagene) are commonly used. For in vitro transcription reactions the plasmid must also be in a linear form. Restriction enzymes should be used to linearize the plasmid. Even after the RNA probe has been transcribed successfully from the template, if the RNA probe is greater than 300-400bps in length it should be hydrolysed into shorter fragments since the optimal upper length for riboprobes for ISH is 150-200bps. Longer probes have poor tissue penetration. Lastly, and perhaps most limiting is the possibility that the investigator may not be able to easily source the cloned gene sequence required for RNA probe generation. Reviewed in [170].

Riboprobes that are complementary to the mRNA of a gene are known as antisense and are obtained by cloning a gene in the reverse orientation. In such cases, the phage polymerase will synthesize labeled transcripts from the opposite DNA strands to that which is normally transcribed *in vivo*. Useful controls for such reactions include sense riboprobes, which should not hybridize to mRNA

A labeled probe is hybridized against RNA in tissue sections that either is paraffinembedded or frozen tissue using a cryostat, then mounted on to glass slides. A hybridization mix including the probe is applied to the section on the slide and covered with a glass cover slip. Typically, the hybridization mix has formamide at a concentration of 50% in order to reduce the hybridization temperature and minimize evaporation problems.

It is important that the ³⁵S -labeled UTP is used immediately after thawing and any remaining label should be discarded rather than re frozen for use at a later time. Greatest contribution to high backgrounds using ³⁵S-labeled probes comes from repeated freezing and thawing of the isotope prior to use. According to Amersham there is about a 5% degradation of the nucleotide with freezing and thawing that might contribute to background problems Reviewed in [169, 170].

Hybridized probe is visualized using autoradiographic procedures. The localization of the silver grain is often visualized using only dark-field microscopy.

3.5 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

IHC refers to the process of localizing proteins in cells of a tissue section exploiting the principle of antibodies (Abs) binding specifically to antigens (Ags) in biological tissues. It takes its name from the roots "*immuno*," in reference to Abs used in the procedure, and "*histo*," meaning tissue. Visualising an **Ab-Ag** interaction can be accomplished in a number of ways. In the most common instance, an Ab is conjugated to an enzyme, such as peroxidase that can catalyse a colour-producing reaction.

Abs can also be classified as primary or secondary reagents. Primary Abs is raised against an Ag of interest and are typically unconjugated (unlabelled), while secondary Abs are raised against primary Abs. Hence, secondary Abs recognizes immunoglobulin of a particular species and is conjugated to either biotin or a reporter enzyme such as alkaline phosphatase or horseradish peroxidase.

Paraffin-embedded tissue were easier to section serially (comparing with acetone-fixed frozen sections), show superior morphology, and stained cells were readily identified [171]. Ag preservation can be improved by the use of low-temperature paraffin and reducing the embedding time by infiltration under vacuum [172]. The most common techniques for immunohistochemical detection of Ags are indirect immunofluorescence and the avidin-biotin-complex (ABC) procedures [173]. Indirect labelling by Abs conjugated to biotin can be observed by avidin detection of biotin. Biotin is a vitamin with very high affinity to the glycoprotein avidin. Different fixatives were used and staining was performed according to the methods described in detail in paper (I-IV). With proper fixation, immune cell surface markers can be easily identified in paraffin-embedded tissue [174].

3.6 Combined ISH/IHC

In this thesis work (paper I-IV), we mainly used combined ISH/IHC to identify the phenotype of cell expressing certain mRNA. Combination of ISH and IHC allows the simultaneous detection of specific mRNAs and Ags in same section or in adjacent sections. However, when ISH is coupled to IHC on a same section, a loss of signal in ISH is often observed [175]. Since ISH is a histological technique cellular relationships are maintained and it is possible to precisely identify cell types expressing the gene of interest and interactions between cells that express different proteins may be uncovered. IHC staining was directly applied following the ISH steps, although, post-fixation and treatment with acetic anhydride and proteinase K were replaced with an antigen retrieval technique according to [176].

3.7 Demyelinated plaque and definition of lesional staging

Demyelination is defined as loss of myelin in white matter of the CNS (brain and spinal cord). The plaque (lesion); is an area of inflamed or demyelinated tissue in the CNS. Categories for demyelinated plaques in EAE were selected in H&E and Klüver-PAS stained slides and defined in this thesis work (paper I-III), as normal appearing white matter (NAWM), periplaque white matter (PPWM), early active lesions (EA), late active lesions (LA), inactive complete demyelinated lesions (DM), and remyelinated shadow plaques (RM), according to [117, 177].

3.7.1 Early active lesions (EA)

These lesions (pink labeled in Figure 5), were heavily infiltrated by macrophages, lymphocytes and microglia. Myelin sheaths were being disrupted and macrophages contained degradation products, which were stained by Luxol fast blue (LFB).

3.7.2 Late active lesions (LA)

Myelin was already destroyed and removed from axons in these lesions (green labeled in Figure 5). Numerous macrophages contained PAS positive degradation products.

3.7.3 Inactive complete demyelinated lesions (DM)

These lesions showed no evidence for ongoing myelin destruction at their borders, but contained some infiltrating inflammatory cells; their numbers were much lower compared with active lesions. Macrophages without LFB or PAS staining and revealed empty vacuoles after complete destruction of internalized myelin.

3.7.4 Remyelinated shadow plaques (RM)

These lesions were characterized by myelin pallor due to abnormally thin remyelinated sheaths and the presence of low numbers of inflammatory cells. Microglia activation was present.

3.8 Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry is the process in which measurements are made while cells in a liquid suspension are forced to flow one at a time through a measuring device. Each of the types of immune cells has a unique combination of size, shape, DNA content, and proteins. A flow cytometer equipped to separate the identified cells is called a fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS). These instruments are used to study the properties of cell subsets identified using monoclonal Abs to cell-surface proteins. Individual cells within a mixed population are first tagged by treatment with specific monoclonal Abs labeled with fluorescent dyes, or by specific Abs followed by labeled anti-immunoglobulin Abs. The mixture of labeled cells is then forced with a much arger volume of saline through a nozzle, creating a fine stream of liquid containing cells spaced singly at intervals. As each cell passes through a laser beam it scatters the laser light, and any dye molecules bound to the cell are excited and will fluoresce. This method was used in paper (I).

3.9 Statistical analysis

Comparisons between pair of normally distributed groups were tested with Student's ttest. The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used to evaluate significant statistical differences between abnormally distributed groups. A p value < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant (paper I-IV).

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

To choose an appropriate experimental model for studying and functionally validating pathogenic mechanisms of a human disease such as MS is difficult. We advocate that in order to identify mechanisms of relevance for human disease, the selected model should display as many features in common as possible. MOG-induced-EAE in rats is closely resembles the clinical and pathological features of MS and provides an excellent platform for investigating mechanisms of disease and evaluating efficacy of therapies, [50, 58]. Several hypotheses have been proposed for the etiopathogenesis of MS, which still remains elusive. Several studies have shown that Ck and their receptors are involved in the pathogenesis of MS, and. Cks, we believed, participate in the development of MS by guiding immune cells into the brain.

It is almost certain that in inflammatory diseases and at different stages of inflammatory process, the relative contribution of CkRs to the selective accumulation of leukocyte subsets to an organ site might vary. However, an emerging picture that overlays differential expression regulation with distinct cellular sources for individual receptors with functional bias for the recruitment of regulatory and/or effectors leukocyte subsets provides a framework to understand the localization/migration of these cells during the inflammatory reaction. The specific sites where these cell populations localize are critical to their ability to exert their regulatory/effector functions. This in turn is responsible for the induction of the characteristic immunological and pathophysiological endpoints that result in disease. This general view is illustrated by the waves of CkRs that might be responsible for the recruitment of monocytes-derived macrophages and/or microglia to the brain during the development of EAE.

4.1 Paper I: Expression of CX3CR1 by microglia and CCR1 by macrophages in MOG-EAE

One of the characteristics of ongoing demyelination in MS is the accumulation of macrophages in active lesions. Little is known about the source of these macrophages in early stages of plaque evolution, as microglial-derived and haematogenous macrophages share morphological characteristics and cell surface Ags. Understanding the pathogenesis of MS is the reliable on identification of phagocytes that capable of degrading myelin and cause onset of demyelination. However, more detailed data on the identity of CCR1 and CX3CR1 expressing cells during the course of autoimmune neuroinflammation has been lacking. For this reason, we have herein studied their mRNA expression in a model that shares several important features with MS to identify their cellular phenotypes that could be of use in future identification of disease mechanisms.

By utilizing combined ISH/IHC during different phases of MOG-induced EAE, we found CCR1 mRNA was preferentially expressed by macrophages (ED1+ *Griffornia simplifolica* isolectin B4+ (GSA/B4+). In contrast, CX3CR1 mRNA expressing cells were identified as microglia on the basis of their cellular morphology and positive (GSA/B4 lectin staining) in spinal cord lesions.



Figure 5. Lesional map made from Klöver-PAS stain and darkfield expression pattern of CX3CR1, CCR1. (A) Camera lucida drawing of huge plaque in cerebellum of DA rat at day 40 p.i. with MOG; EA :(lesion): pink label, LA: green label. DM: grey dotted label, RM: filled grey label. (B, C): Phosphorimager depicting expression of CX3CR1 (generalized expression) and CCR1 (focal expression) mRNA (D, E): Lesinal mapping of demyelination grade mirrored by CX3CR1 and CCR1 mRNA expression. NOTE CCR1 is only expressed in EA areas while CX3CR1 is expressed in all areas except remyelinated area (yellow) (paper I).

Next, actively demyelinating plaques were mapped into subareas representing NAWM, PPWM, DM, and RM in H&E and Klüver-PAS stained slides, using camera Lucida drawings for the correlation of CkR distribution with histopathology (Fig.5). We found CCR1 mRNA was been heavily upregulated in areas of EA demyelination, whereas mRNA for CX3CR1 demonstrated highest expression level in areas of DM.

In this study, we have also analyzed the expression of CCR1 and CX3CR1 at the protein level to determine which cell population expressed these receptors. By using flow cytometric analysis of cells infiltrating the spinal cord (gating was used for the surface markers CD45, ED-2 and CD11b), we found distinctly non-overlapping expression of CCR1 and CX3CR1 in macrophages and microglia respectively, suggesting a differential receptor expression between microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages, and provided insight into pathogenic mechanisms during early demyelinating events in EAE. Furthermore, the intimate association between CCR1 expressing phagocytic cells and the actively demyelinating edges of lesions strongly argues for a pathogenic role for blood-derived macrophages, and identified targets for future therapy by targeting monocyte recruitment.

In line of our finding here, expression of CCR1 in early stage of macrophage-mediated demyelinating activity and in active demyelinating border zone are consistent with previous studies in MS [127, 128, 177-179] and in EAE [180-184]. Moreover, recent reports demonstrate monocyte-derived macrophages in MS responsible for active demyelination [140]. Targeting monocyte recruitment in CNS develop a rationale for targeting the chemokine axis in order to treat CNS inflammatory disease [185].

In regard to the increased expression of CX3CR1 displayed by microglia in demyelinating plaque, hybrid studies have shown that CX3CR1 was constitutively expressed by microglia [186] and induction of EAE in the rat was accompanied by increased levels of CX3CR1 mRNA in spinal cords of animals displaying disease [187]. Taken together, this increased expression during the peak of disease might fulfill a proinflammatory role for CX3CR1 receptor in EAE.

In conclusion, the paper have showed macrophages and microglia present within demyelinating lesions in chronic EAE are expressing CCR1, CX3CR1 respectively, and imply them to the pathogenesis of EAE. These receptors may thus represent promising targets for therapeutic modulation.

4.2 Paper II: Fractalkine is expressed by neuronal-like cells and astrocytes, and CX3CR1 is expressed by microglia in the CNS

Earlier studies have suggested a continuous dialogue between neurons and microglia under basal conditions via FKN-receptor pair [129, 188, 189]. However, their function has remained enigmatic. Paper II temporally compared the expression of FKN and its receptor CX3CR1 in brain tissue derived from healthy controls versus rats with MOG-EAE. cRNA probes directed against rat FKN and CX3CR1, have revealed that FKN is constitutively expressed in the brain within neuronal-like cells (pan-neuronal marker NeuN), and located throughout the neuraxis of the healthy rat. Its expression remained unaltered in the CNS of rats with MOG-EAE, with exception of an induced expression on astrocytes within inflammatory lesions (double-labelling experiments showed those cells to stain positive for the astroglial marker GFAP). The receptor CX3CR1 was expressed by microglial cells in all regions of the healthy brain, and the morphology of these cells, as well as their positive labeling with Griffornia simplifolica isolectin B4 (GSI-B4); stains microglia, macrophages and endothelial cells, identified them as being inactive microglia. Induction of MOG-induced EAE was associated with a distinct accumulation of CX3CR1 mRNA expressing cells within the inflammatory brain lesions at all stages of disease. At relapse, the aggregation of cells expressing high levels of CX3CR1 mRNA closely followed the areas of expanding lesions, which the majority stained positive for markers of the microglia-macrophage lineage. Thus, this Ck-receptor pair may fulfill important roles in normal CNS physiology as well as in CNS pathology. In line of our findings here, a recent report demonstrates that human neurons and astrocytes were also found to express FKN mRNA, and human microglia expressed CX3CR1 mRNA [190].

Next, mRNA expression of CX3CR1 in time-staged brain lesions, was analyzed in H&E and Klüver-PAS stained slides. Elevated levels of CX3CR1 mRNA in microglia in the periplaque zone, as well as EA, LA and DM lesions were found, confirming a results by Sunnemark et al.[136]. The actual number of CX3CR1 mRNA expressing

cells was three-fold higher in lesional areas compared to PPWM and NWM. The fact that CX3CR1 mRNA was only detected within areas of plaque in EAE lesion but not in remyelinated zone [136] argues for a role of FKN signaling in the pathogenesis of inflammation. Alternatively, degeneration of neurons could be the cause of increased CX3CR1 expression due to priming of microglia to FKN shedded from injured neurons by a yet undefined neuronally-derived signal. Interestingly, an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effect of FKN was recently proposed [191, 192].

Thus, communication between microglia and other resident CNS cell as well as invading cells, involves Cks. Cellular communication between neurons and microglia, involving FKN and its receptor, occurs in both normal and pathological states of the CNS.

4.3 Paper III: β-Chemokine receptors CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 are expressed by macrophage/microglia in the CNS

MS is heterogeneous in its clinical course, immunopathological mechanisms and response to treatment [123]. Identification of immunological markers associated with clinical subtypes, phase of disease activity would be an important progress in MS research. Although Cks involved in the regulation and immigration of immune cells by forming a concentration gradient at site of inflammation, still little is known regarding the in vivo expression and phenotype of receptor expressing cells in the CNS. Most of the cells infiltrating the CNS of animals with EAE are macrophages [141], and activated macrophages within lesions have been found to differ at different stages of lesion development towards repair and remyelination or towards chronic demyelination [140, 177]. In fact, macrophage-mediated injury may simply induce higher expression of CkRs or even new CkRs, creating a feed-forward scenario that results in more extensive tissue damage. This study was designed to give information on the role of β -CkRs CCR1, 2 and 5 in acute and chronic phase of MOG-EAE as well as in demyelinating activity and to compare them to CCR1-expressing macrophages.

By combined ISH/IHC, we have showed that acute and chronic-relapsing disease was associated with a distinct expression of CCR1, 2, and 5 within the spinal cord lesions by cells of the macrophage/microglia lineage. Next, actively demyelinating plaques were mapped into subareas representing NAWM, PPWM, active demyelinated plaques, inactive demyelinated plaques, and remyelinated shadow plaques in H&E and Klüver-PAS stained slides, and revealed that CCR1 was detected within lesions representing EA or LA demyelinating activity. The morphology, and the co-labelling for CCR1 with isolectin and/or the marker for phagoctosis ED-1, identified those cells as infiltrating macrophages and/or reactive microglia. These data confirm recent findings from our laboratory (study I), where CCR1 mRNA was found to be preferentially expressed by macrophages in areas of active demyelination.

CCR2 mRNA was detected within EA and LA demyelinating activity. Co-labelling for the isolectin and the marker for phagocytosis ED-1, as well as their amoeboid morphology identified those cells as infiltrating macrophages. Thus, CCR2 expression is distinctively associated with phagocytic properties of monocytes-derived macrophages in EAE lesions. Our findings confirm previous studies describing expression of CCR2 and its ligand CCL2 within inflamed brain lesions of rodents with EAE [193]. In addition, expression of CCR2 on circulating monocytes have been demonstrated during MS relapses [194, 195].

Expression of CCR5 mRNA was found strikingly variable and associated with phagocytic macrophages and microglial cells in the spinal cord.. CCR5 mRNA was detected within lesions primarily representing EA, LA, DM lesions, and in PPWM areas of demyelinating activity. Co-labelling for the isolectin and their morphological characteristics identified those cells as infiltrating macrophages and reactive microglia. These data complement recent findings in active MS lesions where monocytes and microglial cells were found to express CCR5 [178]. Moreover, in pattern II lesions in MS, number of cells expressing CCR1 significantly decreased while CCR5 increased in LA compared with EA demyelinating regions [196]. Thus, expression of CkRs CCR1 and 5 reflects differential activation of mononuclear phagocytes in pattern II MS lesions.

Our further findings have indicated that CCR5 receptor demonstrated a strong expression in demyelinating activity compared to CCR1 and 2. Its expression tended to be more widespread to include all lesional areas as well as to cell located in the periplaque zone. Thus individual CkR could attract different cell types. Low expression of CCR2 was particularly evident in the acute phase, whereas during the active relapse the expression levels per cells reached more prominent levels by cells belonging to the macrophage/microglia cell population. However, these data are in agreement with data by others, where immunoneutralization of the CCR2-selective Ck ligand CCL2 [181, 197] reduced paralysis and brain inflammation at relapse phase in mice with transfer EAE.

In line with these, recent reports show that mice deficient in CCR1, CCR2 or their ligands[184, 198, 199] but not the CCR5 [200] genes, give a clear definition of the role of Cks and their receptors in EAE and suggested rationale for therapeutic intervention. Thus, we could speculate that macrophage recruitment to the CNS was found to be a necessary step in the development of pathologic inflammatory lesions in EAE. This is the context in which Ck inhibition or antagonism makes therapeutic sense. In conclusion, understanding the complex role of these CC CkRs receptors in the initiation, perpetuation and possibly also resolution of the lesion may enable the design of more efficacious treatment of MS.

4.4 Paper IV: Effector stage CCR1 selective antagonist reduces MSlike rat disease

This thesis suggests a rationale for interference with the Ck system at various points as therapeutic intervention using small-molecule inhibitors. The mechanism responsible for causing the immunological damage in the CNS is still unknown. In this way, the protective effects of leukocytes can be subverted in a manner that causes disease. Regulation of the recruitment of activated immune cells and extravasation of these cells into the CNS by CkR antagonist might be strong candidate for therapeutic intervention in MS. According to this, the hypothesis was that antagonism of CCR1 might lead to reduction of inflammation *in vivo*.

Antagonism of CCR1-mediated infiltration of macrophages (Fig.6), gave a powerful inhibition of the onset of paralytic disease and the associated inflammation *in vivo*. In addition, the antagonist potently reduced the severity of ongoing disease when given

after the clinical onset, provided solid evidence of the pathological role of CCR1 in rat MOG-EAE. In vehicle treated-rats, CCR1 mRNA and its ligand CCL3 were expressed within the inflammatory lesions during the acute phase of the disease compared to drugtreated rats. Our data are in line with previous data where blockade of CCL3 (ligand for CCR1), prevented the development of both acute and relapsing paralytic symptoms and infiltration of mononuclear cells into the CNS [180, 181]. Moreover, DNA vaccination encoding for CCL3 effectively inhibited the disease induction in EAE rats [201], and genomic deletions of CCR1 resulted in a partial disease protection in mouse models for MS. These data, collectively combined with our data presented here, provided strong evidence that CCL3 mediated activation of CCR1-expressing macrophages is central to the neuroinflammatory processes in EAE. One may speculate that at the initial phase of the disease more CCR1-expressing cells piled up in the lymphoid organs. As long as we treated the rats, the CCR1 expressing cells are retained in the peripheral organs. When we relieved the pressure on the migration, pathogenic cells are released to enter the brain, thus, we see the overshooting disease after cessation of treatment in group Atreated rats. Whether the antagonist might inhibit the disease at later stages, is still to be proven.



Figure 6:.Clinical effects of CCR1 antagonist. Rats were injected with MOG and treated from day 8 post immunization (group A, n=20), or from individual onset of disease (group B, n=16) with either drug or with vehicle (cyclodextrin/H₂O). Rats were treated twice daily for five consecutive days and scored on a daily basis. The data are combined from two independent experiments and expressed as mean ±2 S.E.M. Black bar below each graph indicates period for treatment.

To be able to compare various indices of immune system functions in vehicle- and drug-treated rats, histopathological evaluation of kidney, lung, liver, heart, spleen and adrenal glands in drug-and vehicle-treated rats were examined. There were no pathological alterations or lesions in any of these organs. Moreover, no signs of atrophy or lymphoid depletion were detected in the spleen in the drug-treated group. ISH with cRNA antisense probes was done to compare the numbers of CCL3, CCL5, CCR1 and CCR5 mRNA-expressing cells within the kidney, lung, liver, heart, spleen and adrenal gland of vehicle- and drug-treated rats. The number of Ck and receptor-expressing cells did not visibly differ between the drug- and vehicle-treated rats, suggesting that, treatment with the CCR1 antagonist does not cause systemic immune abnormalities

rather than a selective inhibition of CCR1-dependant infiltration of leukocytes into the CNS parenchyma. This confirms a study by [180] where anti-CCL3 did not affect the activation of encephalitogenic T cells, suggesting specificity of CCL3 for chemoattraction of mononuclear inflammatory cells into the CNS of EAE mice. Finally, to detect if the effect of CCR1 antagonist treatment was associated with a suppression of specific Ab responses. By ELISA, sera obtained from drug- and vehicle-treated rats (collected from group A and B animals 12 h after the last injection), have showed IgG, IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b and IgG2c of anti-MOG-specific Abs similar in group A- vehicle and-treated rats, whereas in group B, levels of total IgG as well as IgG2b and c isotypes were found significantly lower in the vehicle-treated rats. In the rat, we believe Th1 cells induce switching to IgG2b and IgG2c. The higher levels of anti-MOG IgG2b and IgG2c therefore support the hypothesis that Th1 was present in both vehicle and treated rats argues against a Th2 deviation.

These findings suggest that treatment with CCR1 antagonist is not associated with a general suppression of B cell functions and or a shift to a Th2 driven immune response. In conclusion, the therapeutic ability of a newly discovered CCR1 selective antagonist was explored in this thesis, and it seems that non-peptide CkR antagonist may have a disease-reducing effect in an animal model of autoimmune neuroinflammation.

5 GENERAL DISCUSSION

5.1 CCR1 and CCR1 antagonist in EAE and MS

One of the aims of the present thesis is to better understand the role of 7-TM GPCR at the target site tissue the CNS, and to explore the role of low molecular weight CkR selective antagonist in MOG-EAE. Hope such an approach would offer more insights into disease pathogenesis and potentially identify new therapeutic targets for MS. In this thesis work, CCR1 mRNA expression was found intensely upregulated in EA plaque (paper I) (Fig.5), and also was abundantly been expressed within the inflammatory lesions in EAE in the acute phase (day 13 p.i.), early relapse (day 21 p.i.), mid-relapse (day 24 p.i), late relapse (day 29 p.i n=3), as well as in the demyelinating activity by cells of the macrophage/microglia lineage (paper III). Thus, CCR1 is likely to play a role in the recruitment of secondary influx of leukocytes to the CNS. Ransohoff and co-workers recently reported that CCR1 is abundantly been expressed by infiltrating monocytes in perivascular cell cuffs and at demyelinating edges of evolving lesions in MS, arguing for a direct role of CCR1 mediated signaling in attracting monocytes/macrophages into the brain compartment [178].

This motivated us to use a newly developed CkR antagonist [97] to explore its therapeutic potential in MOG-EAE (paper IV) (Fig.6). We demonstrated that the antagonist alone was able to control the disease progression at the effector stage in chronic rat model for MS, suggesting that this CkR is non-redundant at this stage of the disease and could affect the early active zone of demyelinating activity for the entire treatment period. The antagonist has previously been shown to bind to the human CCR1 with high affinity ($K_i = 40$ nM) and selectivity, and it displays potent inhibition of CCL3 and CCL5 triggered functional responses [97]. Although the affinity of the antagonist to rat CCR1 is 10-20 fold lower, our results convincingly demonstrated that it was highly effective in preventing all signs of paresis as well as CNS inflammation when given just prior to onset of the disease. Even though, when given at individual onset of the disease, it reduced the clinical signs. Of particular note is the finding that the drug also prevents infiltration of T cells, perivascular expression of CCL3 and CCL5 and visible signs of activation of perivascular macrophages. This suggests that CCR1-dependent processes are central also in the, presumably, most early events of neuroinflammation, i.e. infiltration and activation of pathogenic T cells and/or activation of perivascular macrophages, and based on this, we provided evidence of the pathological role of CCR1 receptor in early proinflammatory events in rat MOG-EAE.

More recently, data published from small clinical studies has shown efficacy of an oral CCR1 antagonist in treating RA [202] but failed to meet therapeutic endpoints in larger clinical trials. Moreover, a novel CCR1 antagonists, BX471 (also known as ZK811752), is a potent, selective, orally available agent that was safe in Phase 1 clinical trials in MS [203], but unsuccessful in larger, Phase II trials. One draw back of the lack of CCR1 was only reported in mice lacking this receptor showed increased susceptibility to Toxoplasma gondii infection [204].

5.2 Fractalkine and its receptor CX3CR1 in EAE and MS

Neurons and glial cells are the two major types of cells present in the CNS. For many years, microglia and astrocytes residing within the CNS compartment were thought to

only support the activities of neurons. Astrocytes fill in the space between neurons, take up neurotransmitters that are released by neurons, and help maintain the correct chemical concentrations around neurons. Microglia provides physical and nutritional support for neurons and digests parts of dead neurons. Thus, neurons would not work properly without them. They normally reside in the CNS in resting state, but are rapidly activated by virtually all types of disturbances to the CNS homeostasis [205]. Reviewed in [206, 207]. Disturbances in the normal homeostasis of the CNS induce a localized activation of microglia. This activation serves to isolate pathological processes from surrounding, intact nervous tissue. Concomitantly, healthy or minimally damaged neurons nearby may be negatively influenced by potent molecules released by activated microglia. This situation appears to exist e.g. in MS [208]. In their final stage of activation, microglia becomes phagocytic cells with very high phenotypical resemblance to peripherally-derived macrophages which is sharing a common mesodermal origin with. One exception is the level of CD45 expression, which can be used to distinguish between these two cell populations [209]. It has been hypothesized that monocyte-derived macrophages are more actively involved in damaging consequences of MS than microglia-derived phagocytes[131, 185, 210] as indicated by the preferential appearance of plaques near and around blood vessels. However, phagocytic microglia are also abundant in inflammatory lesions and may exert important effector functions, especially in early stages of MS disease [137, 146]. Therefore, pharmacologic regulation of microglial activity is therefore a rational approach to treatment of many CNS disorders [208]. FKN is a membrane-tethered Ck that functions as a chemoattractant and adhesion protein by interacting with the receptor CX3CR1[211].

In this thesis work, expression of FKN and CX3CR1 in naive rats and in rats with MOG-EAE was determined (paper II). We speculate that the constitutive expression of FKN and its receptor on neurons and microglia are not normally promoting inflammation and indicate a potential mechanism whereby neurons control microglia functions in the intact brain as well, and that FKN appears to restrain the neurotoxic capabilities of microglia under normal circumstances. With the finding that the expression of neuronal FKN is reduced in intensively inflamed areas of the brain, combined with a distinctly induced expression of this ligand within GFAP-positive astroglia (paper II), we speculate that mechanism by which neurons and reactive astrocytes may control migration and function of the surrounding microglia can be proposed. In MS, FKN levels were found significantly increased in patient's serum versus controls [212]. One study showed different patterns of activation cascades depending on FKN concentration on microglia and astrocytes when FKN been analyzed in vitro; they found it exist as a cell regulator at low concentration, while increased (de novo) release of FKN suggested to fulfill a proinflammtory role [213]. Again, we propose that FKN may play a role in inflammation processes in the brain (increased expression) and might be involved in the generation and progression of MS. On the other hand, FKN significantly suppressed neuronal cell death induced by microglia activated with LPS and IFN- γ in a dose-dependent manner. This suggest the possible functions of FKN as an intrinsic inhibitor against neurotoxicity by activated microglia [214]. CX3CR1 mRNA in (paper I and paper II) was revealed elevated levels of expression by microglia in demyelinating activity (Fig.5). In addition, the accumulation of CX3CR1 expressing cells other than microglia within the inflammatory brain lesions indicate a possible role for FKN in controlling invasion of peripheral leukocytes to the brain (paper II). These cells may be speculated to correspond to infiltrating leukocytes, such as NK, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and/or terminally differentiated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, which previously have been described to express FKN receptors and/or to respond functionally upon FKN stimulation [215-220]. However, the majority of the lymphocyte-like cells within the inflammatory lesions of these rats did not express CX3CR1 mRNA.

We could speculate in line of our finding here, that healthy neurons may inform microglia via constitutive calming inputs (FKN) about their normal activity. Upon activation by dangerous signals, microglia chemoattract leukocytes via Cks and produce cytokine and other factors with potential toxicity for neurons. Signals for microglial activation may also derive from severed damaged neurons by disruption of calming inputs (disturbed FKN signaling). Lymphocytes may send feedback to microglia to adjust the profile of invasion-supporting signals. Astrocytes will have input on microglia and on neurons by releasing the harm FKN. In studies by others, astrocytes have been found to have input on microglia and on neurons by releasing the harmful glutamate [221].

With the finding that FKN-/- mice [222, 223], and CX3CR1 -/- mice did not demonstrate any differences to disease severity compared to wild type mice [224], moreover, and in a recent study, CX3CR1-/- mice showed more extensive neuronal cell loss than CX3CR1+ littermate controls, augmenting CX3CR1 signalling may protect against microglial neurotoxicity, whereas CNS penetration by pharmaceutical CX3CR1 antagonists could increase neuronal vulnerability [225], with these controversial findings, we believed that the role of FKN and its receptor in neuroinflammation remains elusive and enigmatic.

A definite assignment of the role of FKN and its receptor in normal and inflamed or injured CNS conditions will await conceptual testing in animal disease models using more informative tools such as selective immunoneutralizing antisera, peptide antagonists or non-peptide CX3CR1 antagonists delivered at various stages of the disease. Development of CX3CR1 antagonists may allow reductions in the doses of immunosuppressive drugs such as that used in transplantation models as suggested by Haskell et al.

5.3 CCR2 in EAE and MS

We presented in (paper III) data to show that CCR2 mRNA (ligand for CCL2) is expressed in spinal cord lesions and in demyelinating activity and associated with phagocytic properties of monocytes-derived macrophages. Early studies have shown CCR2 plays an important role in the recruitment of inflammatory infiltrate into the site of inflammation and/ or into the CNS [226-229]. Mice deficient in CCR2, and CCL2 are resistant to EAE, indicating that these chemokines are required for the induction of EAE, consistent with a nonredundant role of CCL2 and CCR2 in EAE [230, 231]. Thus, the process of CNS infiltration appears to be separated into discrete phases, each controlled by various chemokines. Moreover, CCL2 is considered an excellent candidate for a mediator of leukocyte recruitment in a variety of models of neural trauma and immune-inflammation [31, 232].

In MS patients, no significant difference between the majority of monocytes expressing-CCR2, and the minority of T cells-expressing CCR2 were seen among MS patient compared to control, and also in other non-inflammatory CNS disorders [195, 233]. While in other studies, expression of CCR2 on circulating monocytes and on T cells were found to be significantly elevated during MS relapse compared to control [130, 194]. Moreover, *in vivo* treatment with IFN-β has shown increased expression of CCR2 in MS patients compared to control [234]. However, the significance of CCL2 and CCR2 in MS is enigmatic, because CCL2 levels are consistently decreased in the CSF of patients with this disease and other chronic neuroinflammatory conditions, despite abundant expression within lesional MS tissues [235]. These interpretations are limited, however, by insufficient knowledge and paucity of studies concerning distribution of CCR2 in MS lesions, despite the nonredundant role of CCR2 that demonstrated by using animal models. This might partly be due to technical reasons, such as restricted availability of commercial antibodies. For this reason, the spatial relationship between expression of CCR2 and CCL2 in MS tissue and co localization of CCR2-expressing cell in MS tissue is yet to be fully defined.

The present data do not support a role for CCR2 receptor as a Th2, since several studies have suggested that CCR2 plays a down-regulatory role in EAE [226, 236], and contradict recent reports of the importance of CCL2 in mounting T helper 2 (Th2) responses [199]. CCR2 was not found on T cells, making it unlikely that CNS entry by polarized type 2 lymphocytes or CD4⁺/CD25+ T cells is mediated by CCR2. Based on our findings in this thesis work in regard to the high expression of CCR2 during the active relapse in EAE, we could conclude that, CCR2-mediated effects are likely to play an important role in the disease pathology especially at relapsing EAE. Thus, our data suggested an important and unexpected role for CCR2 activation in modulating the immune response, as well as recruiting monocytes/macrophages to sites of inflammation.

Taken in the context of reduced EAE severity in CCR2-/- mice, and the role of CCR2 antagonist (INCB3344) [237], in immune-based inflammatory reactions and in inflammatory disease models including EAE, these findings suggest that CCR2 considered a potential target for therapeutic intervention in CNS diseases, in particular MS, in which phagocytic macrophages are deemed pathogenic.

5.4 CCR5 in EAE and MS

In paper III, we showed that CCR5 mRNA is expressed by phagocytic macrophages and microglial cells. In line of our findings, monocytes-derived macrophages characterize brain lesions in MS and are believed to be effector cells causing demyelination and axonal injuries in MS [177, 238]. The abundant expression of a variety of CkRs by cells of monocyte/macrophage lineage is suggestive of a redundancy in the Ck-mediated control of macrophage function [239]. Most leukocytes found in MS lesions are macrophages, derived either from monocytes or microglia [240]. Despite different activation mechanisms and origins (i.e., resident microglia *versus* hematogenous monocytes), most phagocytic macrophages in MS, expressed CCR5 within demyelinated lesions [178, 241], and its expression on mononuclear phagocytes increased during MS lesion evolution, a finding that was interpreted as indicating up-regulation of CCR5 on resident microglial cells and haematogenous monocytes upon activation [178]. CCR5 is another CkR associated with Th1 inflammatory reactions [242]. Unexpectedly, we did not observe CCR5 positive CD3 T cells in spinal cord sections of EAE. Our results contradict recent findings by [242, 243] where they found preferential expression of CCR5 on Th1 cells in MS. The profile of CkR on T helper cells may, in part, explain selective recruitment of T cell subpopulations to sites of inflammation, including the predominance of Th1 cells expressing CCR5 in MS lesions [244, 245].

Interestingly, microglia appears to express preferentially other members of CC Ck family, including CCL3 and CCL4 [239]. Various types of injury to the CNS, such as infection, trauma, autoimmune inflammation, and neurodegeneration are known to elicit microglial activation [240]. It has become clear that microglia may display different activity states and have different functional properties under different pathological conditions [246]. These results indicated varied pathways to destruction of neural tissue, and myelin in particular. Regardless of the nature of damage inflicted on the CNS, microglial activation is generally associated with a change in morphology into an amoeboid appearance with shortened cytoplasmic processes and a rounded cell body accompanied by increased expression of genes involved in immune reactions.

CCR5 delta32 (Δ 32) is a 32-basepair deletion of CCR5 gene. A CCR5 Delta32 deletion mutation abolishes functional CCR5 on the cell surface and may reduce cell entry into the lesion sites [247]. Individuals homozygous for a non functional $\Delta 32$ CCR5 develop MS [248] and individuals heterozygous for the $\Delta 32$ non-functional CCR5 allele experienced prolonged disease free intervals, compared to ones with a fully functional CCR5 receptor [249, 250]. More recently, Pulknin [247] from Finland suggested that the lack of CCR5 does not protect from MS, but rather it may predispose to the chronic course of the disease. This would further imply that in view of the redundancy in the Ck system, CCR5 ligands must be assumed to function through other closely related CkRs. Moreover, among many other same studies, Ristic from Croatia in 2006 [251] concluded that the CCR5 Δ 32 mutation is neither protective of, nor a risk factor for MS, where he showed no significant differences in the distribution of this mutations between MS and control, indicating that this mutation does not influence susceptibility to MS. The presence of these two CCR5 \triangle 32 homozygous in the MS patients indicated the absence of CCR5 is not protective against MS, and suggested that CCR5 is not an essential component in MS expression. Although this may be due to redundancy in the Ck system where different CkRs may substitute for CCR5 when it is absent [248]. In this regard, CCR5 expression may be a useful marker to identify effector cells in MS and could be used as a tool for monitoring disease activity [252], and response to treatment [253]. Moreover, the lack of effect of MIP-1« deficiency [200] illustrates redundancy in the chemokine system. Further research into the specific functions of chemokines will elucidate the role of these molecules in CNS disease. This data collectively suggests a role in the recruitment of inflammatory cells from the circulation and promoting tissue injury in MS and EAE lesions.

In conclusion our findings imply that C-C CkR could all potentially activate and recruit both resident glia and infiltrating haematogenous cells to sites of CNS inflammation., and provide several potential CkRs targets for therapeutics that affect the disease at different times in the process, allowing the lessons learned from this model to be applied to human MS.

6 CONCLUDING REMARKS

Several conclusions can be drawn so far:

- **I.** The abundant expression of CkRs on microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages in EAE plaque support the hypothesis that Cks may control the formation of inflammatory brain lesions by facilitating local accumulation of non-specific inflammatory cells. Thus, they may serve as potential targets for therapeutic intervention in EAE, and in human MS (paper I).
- **II.** The expression of FKN by neurons and astrocytes and and its cognate receptor by microglia shed light on mechanism by which neurons and reactive astrocytes control migration and function of surrounding microglia in pathological states of the CNS. In addition, the findings that CX3CR1 is also expressed by other cells than microglia within brain lesions, indicating a possible role for FKN in controlling invasion of peripheral leukocytes to the brain (paper II).
- **III.** Members of β -subfamily of CkR CCR1, 2 and 5 are prominently expressed within the inflammatory brain lesions in EAE by cells of macrophage and or/microglia lineage, suggesting a pathogenic role for these receptors at differing stages of chronic EAE (paper III).
- **IV.** Treatment of EAE rats with a CCR1 selective antagonist is a very effective means of preventing onset of the inflammatory cascades within the CNS that most likely are the cause of the ensuing functional deficits in MS-like rat model (paper IV).

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The thesis shed light on some of CkRs and provided new information about mechanisms controlling Ck mRNA expression during immune-mediated inflammation in EAE, consistent with a role for Cks as amplifiers of CNS inflammatory reactions. It also provided several potential CkRs targets for therapeutics that affect the disease at different times and provide the knowledge base needed to modulate tissue inflammation. Despite the large number of CkRs, the challenge is to find molecules that are relatively selective for one CkR compared with another, to turn it to potent and selective molecules as a drug candidate in MS. Whether such selectivity is needed *in vivo* is still not clear. However, in the future, the availability of antibodies that will allow immunohistochemical characterization of human disease tissue and fluids would permit correlation between receptor expression levels in human samples, and animal models. Future studies in search for answers to the following questions might further clarify the immunopathogenesis of EAE and MS.

My studies have provided answer to some questions raised but have also led to the generation of new questions. I will here briefly outline what I think would be interesting to explore in the future.

If combined receptors antagonist (CCR1/CCR2) would be better in blocking macrophage-mediated disease

The activity of CCR1 antagonist compound *in vivo* in animal model of disease has been emerged here, and the expression profile of CCR2 at different stages of disease development was been described with their cellular sources also. Whether combined CCR1/CCR2 antagonist would be better in blocking macrophage-mediated disease is still unknown, and would be hunting ground in the pharmaceutical industry for drug candidate

If CX3CR1 antagonist could locally modulate the inflammation of the CNS in vivo

With regard to the elevated levels of CX3CR1 mRNA detected within microglia-like cells in the brain. Inhibition of CNS specific glial activation can also ameliorate the effects of neuronal dysfunction and destruction. The development of CX3CR1 antagonist may allow reductions in the doses of immunosuppressive drugs used in MS patients. Such work is a prerequisite for the development of novel, efficacious and safe drugs to treat CNS inflammation.

8 AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are experiences in our lives that leave everlasting footprints. This discovering experience was one of them. This work was performed at the Department of Medicine, Neuroimmunology Unit, Karolinska Institute and the Department of Molecular Science, AstraZeneca R&D in Stockholm. During these years I have met so many amazing people that have been so friendly and have had great support and tremendous help from them. Most heartedly I would like to thank:

My supervisor, Professor *Tomas Olsson*, for having me at his highly remarkable unit, for his high standard, generosity and access to excellent research facilities, for introducing me to various stunning collaborations, and challenging me in his own way to find my way in science, and for the possibility to attend scientific meetings outside Sweden. I am forever grateful to you for making my dream come true.

My co-supervisor Associate Professor *Anders Ericsson-Dahlstrand*, who inspired me during my studies and reminded me to stay focused, for introducing me to the fascinating world of science, the world of chemokine receptors, for teaching me scientific thinking and encouraging me to deal with difficult challenges in my life, for friendly discussions and friendship. Thanks extended to your wonderful family.

My co-supervisor Associate Professor *Erik Wallström*, for being a truly dedicated and enthusiastic neuroimmunologist-genetist who introduced me to this kind of research with great expertise, for splendid attention to every detail, for patient hearing, polite manner and quiet attitude, for his high energy and vigor, and for being so so supportive.

My co-supervisor Professor *Per Hellström*, I think they put the right "tough" man in the right "tough" position, enduring with high administrative and scientific capabilities. Thanks for the endless help and support, tolerance and patience, and also for allowing me to know your "other pleasant" nature, and the un-official kind character.

I am grateful to *Dan Sunnemark* my co-author, co-experimental, for his contributions enthusiasm, vast knowledge, fruitful collaboration and friendship. As you said Dan "we are a successful-working team", so, let us continue then!

Of all my heart I thank co-author *Anna-Lena Berg*, for her positive thinking and attitude, for being a skilled researcher, and for allowing me to realize that many useful things can be done at same time.

I acknowledge the valuable contributions from co-author Professor *Hans Lassmann*, in Vienna, and his impressive scientific knowledge in the neuroimmunology field.

My sincere thanks go to co-author Associate Professor *Fredrik Piehl*, "the King" for his scientific professionalism, wonderful personality, decent attitude and great help.

My deepest thanks and appreciations go to Associate Professor *Robert Harris* (BOB), "the lab BOSS", for willing to help always, for his encouragement, and moral support.

Deep gratitude goes to Professor *Moiz Bakhiet*, who offers me and others this great opportunity to come to Sweden. You are a huge heart in the form of human being. Thanks extended to the dearest and sublime *Amal Bakhiet*.

My warmest appreciation to friends and colleagues, *past*, *present* and *future* group members of the neuroimmunology unit:

The gorgeous *Kristina* "Alshaina", the pretties *Maria* and *Maja*, the respectful *Monica*, the baby faces *Ruxandra* and *Judit*, the kind *Sofia*, *Sander*, *Cecilia*, *Khairul and Sheng*, the gentle *Saad*, the kid *Rita*, the smart *Alexander*, the decent *Lou*, the very nice *Ellen*, my genetics tutor *Ingrid*, my old friends *Robert* and *Kathy*. *Anders*, *Magnus*, and the new comers *Margarita*, *Ame*, *Alan*, *Pernilla*, *Johan*, *Karin*, *Michael*, *Nada*, *Ola*, *Alex*, *Faiez*, *Cynthia*, *Melanie*, *Theo*, thanks all for being there in a time of need. Special thanks and appreciation are due to:

Olle Lidman, the brilliant "Prince" for never-ending help until the final touches of the thesis, for being ambitious, simple and easy to deal with, and for been a true friend.

Mohsen Khademi, for drawing the thesis front cover, and for being a great giving guy. *Anna Lobell*, for fruitful collaboration with DNA vaccination..

Maja Jagodic, the brain, talent, and look "BTL", special thanks for being there always. *Britt Dahlgren* "the loving-angel", *Maine Blomstedt* and *Ami Bjorkholm*, for helping with small and big practical matters with pleasure through all these years.

Professor *Anders Hamsten*, I adore your big heart, your wisdom, and making every one feel good and comfortable around you.

Camilla Berg, Yea, I know I drived you crazy sometimes. Thanks for your understanding, and to *Caroline Hamilton*, many thanks for the great help.

I am grateful to the charming Professor *Maria Anvret*, for being luxurious, elegant and kind lady, for welcoming me at the Department of Molecular Science at AstraZeneca and allowing us to use the facilities of their well-equipped lab. Moreover, my warmest thanks to *Helena Johansson*, for skilful technical assistance, and for guiding me to work with cRNA probes, and to *Anne Svensson*, and *Maria Nilson*, for utmost help.

I am deeply grateful to our beloved neighbours the "*Rheumatology group*" for being "without exception" such good people and good friends through the years. My thanks extended to Professor *Lars Klareskog*, for generating a stimulating work atmosphere at our floor, and special thanks and admiration goes to the young Professor *Marie Wahren* and to the wonderful *Helena Harris, Tina Trollmo, Ingrid Lundberg, Johnny Lorentzen* and *Leonid Padyukov*. Tack så mycket!. You will be missed all.

Grateful thanks are due to all staff at KI administration former and present. I wish if I could embrace each of you and let you know how much your kindness means to me, especially I would like to thank:

The marvelous our KI President *Harriet Wallberg-Henriksson*, I cherish your concern, decency and kindness, and I thank you for being such a great role model of a career woman and for making KI an integrity place with excellent international reputation. So, God Bless Sweden !

Associate Professor *Elias Arnér*, for knowing how to handle different matters at KI with wisdom, for utmost help, patience, inspiration, motivation, moral support and

enthusiasm, and for the general advice for PhD students to stay positive and independent. Is thank you would be enough?. My utmost respect "modest Dean".

Professor *Hans Wigzell*, and Associate Professor *Mikael Holst* "the walking angels" thanks a lot for the valuable lessons and advices, genuine care and concern. Associate Professor *Elisabeth Granström*, I will live along by your angel face. Tack! *Margaretha Utterström*, for your kindness and for the nice bag at the days of MMC.

Dr *Birigita Hellers*, at Studenthälsan vid KI, thanks for giving me a space in your heart, and for being such a good human being.

My sincere thanks to *all staff of the animal department*, for their tremendous help, lovely smiles, warm atmosphere at U1, and for taking good care of our lovely rats.

All the staff at KI library, for their great help always, and for their beautiful smiles.

Professor *Richard Ransohoff* "the Chemokine Guy" in USA, for supporting me in many different ways, and for being truly modest decent guy. So, God Bless America!

Associate Professor *Maha Mustafa*, and her family members in Stockholm, for being generous, hospital and wonderful people.

Professor *Mustafa Dafa-alla* and Professor *Anwaar Kordofani*, at the Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine back home in Khartoum, for implanting the first seed towards my journey to Sweden that has made all the differences.

Anders and *Ulrika* my kind-hearted neighbours, will be missing you a great deal, thanks for helping me all these years with computer crisis, and for being good friends.

My dear friends everywhere, *Suzan* "my sister and soul mate", mycket snälla *Sevim*, *Nadia*, *Yvonne*, *Hanan* and *Eltayeb*, *Salah*, *Adla*, and *Amani*, for their calls and concern

Men of honor *Osman Eltayeb* and *Kamal Elshaigi* my uncles, for believing in me, and for moral and financial support in a time of need.

My beloved *sisters, brothers, uncles, aunts,* and *cousins* for their real worries and concern, constant calls and support, and for their true love...miss you all!

I will always be deeply indebted to my wonderful *parents*, for teaching me to look always to the sky, and never-to-give-up, and to let no one to destroy my spirits, for motivating me to continue what I am doing and for unconditioned love.

Last but not least, I would like to thank the mighty, *God*, who gave me the strength, the wellness and the blessing to finish this thesis.



REFERENCES

- 1. Fabry, Z., C.S. Raine, and M.N. Hart, *Nervous tissue as an immune compartment: the dialect of the immune response in the CNS.* Immunol Today, 1994. **15**(5): p. 218-24.
- 2. Butcher, E.C., *Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: three (or more) steps to specificity and diversity.* Cell, 1991. **67**(6): p. 1033-6.
- 3. Butcher, E.C. and L.J. Picker, *Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis*. Science, 1996. **272**(5258): p. 60-6.
- 4. Springer, T.A., *Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm.* Cell, 1994. **76**(2): p. 301-14.
- 5. Ransohoff, R.M., P. Kivisakk, and G. Kidd, *Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(7): p. 569-81.
- 6. Callahan, M.K. and R.M. Ransohoff, *Analysis of leukocyte extravasation across the blood-brain barrier: conceptual and technical aspects*. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep., 2004. **4**(1): p. 65-73.
- 7. Carson, M.J. and J.G. Sutcliffe, *Balancing function vs. self defense: the CNS as an active regulator of immune responses.* J Neurosci Res, 1999. **55**(1): p. 1-8.
- 8. Lassmann, H., et al., *Microglial cells are a component of the perivascular glia limitans*. J Neurosci Res, 1991. **28**(2): p. 236-43.
- 9. Ransohoff, R.M., *Mechanisms of inflammation in MS tissue: adhesion molecules and chemokines.* J Neuroimmunol, 1999. **98**(1): p. 57-68.
- 10. Baggiolini, M., *Chemokines and leukocyte traffic*. Nature, 1998. **392**(6676): p. 565-8.
- 11. Lukacs, N.W., et al., *Chemokines: function, regulation and alteration of inflammatory responses.* Chem Immunol, 1999. **72**: p. 102-20.
- 12. Stein, J.V., et al., *L-selectin-mediated leukocyte adhesion in vivo: microvillous distribution determines tethering efficiency, but not rolling velocity.* J Exp Med., 1999. **189**(1): p. 37-50.
- 13. von Andrian, U.H., et al., *A central role for microvillous receptor presentation in leukocyte adhesion under flow.* Cell., 1995. **82**(6): p. 989-99.
- 14. Berlin, C., et al., *alpha 4 integrins mediate lymphocyte attachment and rolling under physiologic flow.* Cell., 1995. **80**(3): p. 413-22.
- 15. Hughes, P.E. and M. Pfaff, *Integrin affinity modulation*. Trends Cell Biol., 1998. **8**(9): p. 359-64.
- 16. Schwartz, M.A., M.D. Schaller, and M.H. Ginsberg, *Integrins: emerging paradigms of signal transduction*. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 1995. **11**: p. 549-99.
- 17. Foxman, E.F., J.J. Campbell, and E.C. Butcher, *Multistep navigation and the combinatorial control of leukocyte chemotaxis*. J Cell Biol., 1997. **139**(5): p. 1349-60.
- Campbell, J.J. and E.C. Butcher, *Chemokines in tissue-specific and microenvironment-specific lymphocyte homing*. Curr Opin Immunol., 2000. 12(3): p. 336-41.
- 19. Adams, D.H. and A.R. Lloyd, *Chemokines: leucocyte recruitment and activation cytokines*. Lancet, 1997. **349**(9050): p. 490-5.

- 20. Baggiolini, M., [New attack point in anti-HIV therapy discovered. Docking of viruses to human cells can be prevented]. Fortschr Med, 1997. **115**(27): p. 48-50.
- 21. Kelner, G.S., et al., *Lymphotactin: a cytokine that represents a new class of chemokine*. Science, 1994. **266**(5189): p. 1395-9.
- 22. Bazan, J.F., et al., *A new class of membrane-bound chemokine with a CX3C motif.* Nature, 1997. **385**(6617): p. 640-4.
- 23. Pan, Y., et al., *Neurotactin, a membrane-anchored chemokine upregulated in brain inflammation.* Nature, 1997. **387**(6633): p. 611-7.
- 24. Haskell, C.A., M.D. Cleary, and I.F. Charo, *Molecular uncoupling of fractalkine-mediated cell adhesion and signal transduction. Rapid flow arrest of CX3CR1-expressing cells is independent of G-protein activation.* J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(15): p. 10053-8.
- 25. Nishiyori, A., et al., Localization of fractalkine and CX3CR1 mRNAs in rat brain: does fractalkine play a role in signaling from neuron to microglia? FEBS Lett, 1998. **429**(2): p. 167-72.
- 26. Rollins, B.J., *Chemokines*. Blood, 1997. **90**(3): p. 909-28.
- 27. Zlotnik, A. and O. Yoshie, *Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity*. Immunity, 2000. **12**(2): p. 121-7.
- 28. Proudfoot, A.E., *Chemokine receptors: multifaceted therapeutic targets*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. **2**(2): p. 106-15.
- 29. Dohlman, H.G., et al., *Model systems for the study of seven-transmembrane-segment receptors*. Annu Rev Biochem, 1991. **60**: p. 653-88.
- 30. Gerard, C. and B.J. Rollins, *Chemokines and disease*. Nat Immunol, 2001. **2**(2): p. 108-15.
- 31. Ransohoff, R.M., *Chemokines in neurological disease models: correlation between chemokine expression patterns and inflammatory pathology.* J Leukoc Biol, 1997. **62**(5): p. 645-52.
- Ubogu, E.E., M.B. Cossoy, and R.M. Ransohoff, *The expression and function of chemokines involved in CNS inflammation*. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 2005. 23: p. 23.
- 33. Ji, T.H., M. Grossmann, and I. Ji, *G protein-coupled receptors. I. Diversity of receptor-ligand interactions.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(28): p. 17299-302.
- 34. Horuk, R., *Molecular properties of the chemokine receptor family*. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 1994. **15**(5): p. 159-65.
- 35. Murphy, P.M., et al., *International union of pharmacology. XXII. Nomenclature for chemokine receptors.* Pharmacol Rev, 2000. **52**(1): p. 145-76.
- 36. Thelen, M., *Dancing to the tune of chemokines*. Nat Immunol, 2001. **2**(2): p. 129-34.
- 37. Proudfoot, A.E., C.A. Power, and T.N. Wells, *The strategy of blocking the chemokine system to combat disease*. Immunol Rev, 2000. **177**: p. 246-56.
- 38. Gosling, J., et al., *Cutting edge: identification of a novel chemokine receptor that binds dendritic cell- and T cell-active chemokines including ELC, SLC, and TECK.* J Immunol, 2000. **164**(6): p. 2851-6.
- 39. Homey, B., et al., *Cutting edge: the orphan chemokine receptor G proteincoupled receptor-2 (GPR-2, CCR10) binds the skin-associated chemokine CCL27 (CTACK/ALP/ILC).* J Immunol, 2000. **164**(7): p. 3465-70.

- 40. Neer, E.J., *G proteins: critical control points for transmembrane signals.* Protein Sci, 1994. **3**(1): p. 3-14.
- 41. Clapham, D.E. and E.J. Neer, *New roles for G-protein beta gamma-dimers in transmembrane signalling*. Nature, 1993. **365**(6445): p. 403-6.
- 42. Lefkowitz, R.J., *G protein-coupled receptor kinases*. Cell, 1993. **74**(3): p. 409-12.
- 43. Lefkowitz, R.J., *G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and beta-arrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(30): p. 18677-80.
- 44. Arai, H., et al., Dissociation of chemotaxis from agonist-induced receptor internalization in a lymphocyte cell line transfected with CCR2B. Evidence that directed migration does not require rapid modulation of signaling at the receptor level. J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(40): p. 25037-42.
- 45. Zamvil, S.S., et al., *T-cell epitope of the autoantigen myelin basic protein that induces encephalomyelitis.* Nature, 1986. **324**(6094): p. 258-60.
- 46. Tuohy, V.K., R.A. Sobel, and M.B. Lees, *Myelin proteolipid protein-induced experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Variations of disease expression in different strains of mice.* J Immunol, 1988. **140**(6): p. 1868-73.
- 47. Adelmann, M., et al., *The N-terminal domain of the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) induces acute demyelinating experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the Lewis rat.* J Neuroimmunol, 1995. **63**(1): p. 17-27.
- 48. Ben-Nun, A., H. Wekerle, and I.R. Cohen, *The rapid isolation of clonable antigen-specific T lymphocyte lines capable of mediating autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* Eur J Immunol, 1981. **11**(3): p. 195-9.
- 49. Paterson, P.Y., *Transfer of allergic encephalomyelitis in rats by means of lymph node cells*. J Exp Med, 1960. **111**: p. 119-36.
- 50. Weissert, R., et al., *MHC haplotype-dependent regulation of MOG-induced EAE in rats.* J Clin Invest, 1998. **102**(6): p. 1265-73.
- 51. Butterfield, R.J., et al., *Identification of genetic loci controlling the characteristics and severity of brain and spinal cord lesions in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* Am J Pathol, 2000. **157**(2): p. 637-45.
- 52. Johns, T.G., et al., *Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces a demyelinating encephalomyelitis resembling multiple sclerosis.* J Immunol, 1995. **154**(10): p. 5536-41.
- 53. Hjelmstrom, P., et al., *A molecular model of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein.* J Neurochem, 1998. **71**(4): p. 1742-9.
- 54. Pham-Dinh, D., et al., *Myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is a member of a subset of the immunoglobulin superfamily encoded within the major histocompatibility complex.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. **90**(17): p. 7990-4.
- 55. Hjelmstrom, P., A.E. Juedes, and N.H. Ruddle, *Cytokines and antibodies in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* Res Immunol, 1998. **149**(9): p. 794-804; discussion 847-8, 855-60.
- 56. Lorentzen, J.C., et al., *Protracted, relapsing and demyelinating experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in DA rats immunized with syngeneic spinal cord and incomplete Freund's adjuvant.* J Neuroimmunol, 1995. **63**(2): p. 193-205.

- 57. Martin, R., H.F. McFarland, and D.E. McFarlin, *Immunological aspects of demyelinating diseases*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1992. **10**: p. 153-87.
- Storch, M.K., et al., Autoimmunity to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in rats mimics the spectrum of multiple sclerosis pathology. Brain Pathol, 1998.
 8(4): p. 681-94.
- 59. Svensson, L., et al., A comparative analysis of B cell-mediated myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis pathogenesis in B cell-deficient mice reveals an effect on demyelination. Eur J Immunol, 2002. **32**(7): p. 1939-46.
- 60. Piddlesden, S.J., et al., *The demyelinating potential of antibodies to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is related to their ability to fix complement.* Am J Pathol, 1993. **143**(2): p. 555-64.
- 61. Willenborg, D.O. and S.J. Prowse, *Immunoglobulin-deficient rats fail to develop experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* J Neuroimmunol, 1983. **5**(2): p. 99-109.
- 62. Archelos, J.J. and H.P. Hartung, *Pathogenetic role of autoantibodies in neurological diseases*. Trends Neurosci, 2000. **23**(7): p. 317-27.
- 63. Hjelmstrom, P., et al., *B-cell-deficient mice develop experimental allergic encephalomyelitis with demyelination after myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein sensitization*. J Immunol, 1998. **161**(9): p. 4480-3.
- 64. Archelos, J.J., M.K. Storch, and H.P. Hartung, *The role of B cells and autoantibodies in multiple sclerosis.* Ann Neurol, 2000. **47**(6): p. 694-706.
- Luster, A.D., R. Alon, and U.H. von Andrian, *Immune cell migration in inflammation: present and future therapeutic targets*. Nat Immunol, 2005. 6(12): p. 1182-90.
- 66. Garden, G.A., *Microglia in human immunodeficiency virus-associated neurodegeneration*. Glia., 2002. **40**(2): p. 240-51.
- 67. Wiendl, H., et al., *A functional role of HLA-G expression in human gliomas: an alternative strategy of immune escape.* J Immunol., 2002. **168**(9): p. 4772-80.
- 68. McFarlin, D.E. and H.F. McFarland, *Multiple sclerosis (first of two parts)*. N Engl J Med, 1982. **307**(19): p. 1183-8.
- 69. Karin, N., et al., Selective and nonselective stages in homing of T lymphocytes to the central nervous system during experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Immunol, 1993. **150**(9): p. 4116-24.
- 70. Yednock, T.A., et al., Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by antibodies against alpha 4 beta 1 integrin. Nature, 1992. 356(6364): p. 63-6.
- 71. Brocke, S., et al., *Treatment of experimental encephalomyelitis with a peptide analogue of myelin basic protein.* Nature, 1996. **379**(6563): p. 343-6.
- 72. Schmied, M., et al., *Apoptosis of T lymphocytes in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Evidence for programmed cell death as a mechanism to control inflammation in the brain.* Am J Pathol, 1993. **143**(2): p. 446-52.
- 73. Karin, N., et al., *Reversal of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by a soluble peptide variant of a myelin basic protein epitope: T cell receptor antagonism and reduction of interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor alpha production.* J Exp Med, 1994. **180**(6): p. 2227-37.
- 74. Henson, P. M., *Dampening inflammation*. Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(12): p. 1179-81.

- 75. Williams, R.W. and K. Herrup, *The control of neuron number*. Annu Rev Neurosci, 1988. **11**: p. 423-53.
- Neumann, H., *Control of glial immune function by neurons*. Glia, 2001. 36(2): p. 191-9.
- 77. Dong, Y. and E.N. Benveniste, *Immune function of astrocytes*. Glia, 2001. **36**(2): p. 180-90.
- 78. Aldskogius, H. and E.N. Kozlova, *Central neuron-glial and glial-glial interactions following axon injury*. Prog Neurobiol, 1998. **55**(1): p. 1-26.
- 79. Tetzlaff, W., et al., *Increased glial fibrillary acidic protein synthesis in astrocytes during retrograde reaction of the rat facial nucleus.* Glia, 1988. **1**(1): p. 90-5.
- 80. Bignami, A., et al., *Localization of the glial fibrillary acidic protein in astrocytes by immunofluorescence*. Brain Res, 1972. **43**(2): p. 429-35.
- 81. Vaughan, D.W. and A. Peters, *Neuroglial cells in the cerebral cortex of rats from young adulthood to old age: an electron microscope study.* J Neurocytol, 1974. **3**(4): p. 405-29.
- 82. Streit, W.J., *Microglial response to brain injury: a brief synopsis.* Toxicol Pathol, 2000. **28**(1): p. 28-30.
- 83. Carson, M.J., et al., *Mature microglia resemble immature antigen-presenting cells*. Glia, 1998. **22**(1): p. 72-85.
- 84. Carson, M.J., Microglia as liaisons between the immune and central nervous systems: functional implications for multiple sclerosis. Glia, 2002. 40(2): p. 218-31.
- 85. Flugel, A., et al., *Gene transfer into CD4+ T lymphocytes: green fluorescent protein-engineered, encephalitogenic T cells illuminate brain autoimmune responses.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**(7): p. 843-7.
- 86. Streit, W.J., *Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS*. Glia, 2002. **40**(2): p. 133-9.
- 87. Streit, W.J., S.A. Walter, and N.A. Pennell, *Reactive microgliosis*. Prog Neurobiol, 1999. **57**(6): p. 563-81.
- Graeber, M.B., W.J. Streit, and G.W. Kreutzberg, *The third glial cell type, the microglia: cellular markers of activation in situ*. Acta Histochem Suppl, 1990.
 38: p. 157-60.
- 89. Proudfoot, A.E., et al., *Strategies for chemokine antagonists as therapeutics Treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with the chemokine receptor antagonist Met-RANTES.* Semin Immunol, 2003. **15**(1): p. 57-65.
- 90. Gordon, S. and P.R. Taylor, *Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(12): p. 953-64.
- 91. Ford, A.L., et al., Normal adult ramified microglia separated from other central nervous system macrophages by flow cytometric sorting. Phenotypic differences defined and direct ex vivo antigen presentation to myelin basic protein-reactive CD4+ T cells compared. J Immunol, 1995. **154**(9): p. 4309-21.
- 92. Hickey, W.F., *Migration of hematogenous cells through the blood-brain barrier and the initiation of CNS inflammation*. Brain Pathol, 1991. **1**(2): p. 97-105.
- 93. Hickey, W.F., *Leukocyte traffic in the central nervous system: the participants and their roles.* Semin Immunol, 1999. **11**(2): p. 125-37.

- 94. Thomas, W.E., et al., *Brain macrophages: on the role of pericytes and perivascular cells.*. Brain Res Brain Res Rev, 1999. **31**(1): p. 42-57.
- 95. Williams, K., X. Alvarez, and A.A. Lackner, *Central nervous system perivascular cells are immunoregulatory cells that connect the CNS with the peripheral immune system*. Glia, 2001. **36**(2): p. 156-64.
- 96. Proudfoot, A.E., et al., *Strategies for chemokine antagonists as therapeutics*. Semin Immunol, 2003. **15**(1): p. 57-65.
- 97. Hesselgesser, J., et al., Identification and characterization of small molecule functional antagonists of the CCR1 chemokine receptor. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(25): p. 15687-92.
- 98. Wells, T.N.C., et al., *The Molecular Basis of the Chemokine/Chemokine Receptor Interaction-Scope for Design of Chemokine Antagonists*. Methods, 1996. **10**(1): p. 126-34.
- 99. Johnson, Z., et al., *Chemokine inhibition why, when, where, which and how?* Biochem Soc Trans, 2004. **32**(Pt 2): p. 366-77.
- 100. Proudfoot, A.E., T.N. Wells, and P.R. Clapham, *Chemokine receptors--future therapeutic targets for HIV?* Biochem Pharmacol, 1999. **57**(5): p. 451-63.
- 101. Ng, H.P., et al., *Discovery of novel non-peptide CCR1 receptor antagonists*. J Med Chem, 1999. **42**(22): p. 4680-94.
- Horuk, R., et al., A non-peptide functional antagonist of the CCR1 chemokine receptor is effective in rat heart transplant rejection. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(6): p. 4199-204.
- 103. Plater-Zyberk, C., et al., *Effect of a CC chemokine receptor antagonist on collagen induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice*. Immunol Lett, 1997. **57**(1-3): p. 117-20.
- 104. Naya, A., et al., *Design, synthesis, and discovery of a novel CCR1 antagonist.* J Med Chem, 2001. **44**(9): p. 1429-35.
- 105. Liang, M., et al., Species selectivity of a small molecule antagonist for the CCR1 chemokine receptor. Eur J Pharmacol, 2000. **389**(1): p. 41-9.
- 106. Baba, M., et al., A small-molecule, nonpeptide CCR5 antagonist with highly potent and selective anti-HIV-1 activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. 96(10): p. 5698-703.
- 107. Shiraishi, M., et al., Discovery of novel, potent, and selective small-molecule CCR5 antagonists as anti-HIV-1 agents: synthesis and biological evaluation of anilide derivatives with a quaternary ammonium moiety. J Med Chem, 2000. 43(10): p. 2049-63.
- 108. Trapp, B.D., et al., Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med, 1998. **338**(5): p. 278-85.
- 109. Sorensen, T.L. and R.M. Ransohoff, *Etiology and pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis*. Semin Neurol, 1998. **18**(3): p. 287-94.
- 110. Fujinami, R.S. and M.B. Oldstone, *Molecular mimicry as a mechanism for virus-induced autoimmunity*. Immunol Res, 1989. **8**(1): p. 3-15.
- 111. Wucherpfennig, K.W. and J.L. Strominger, *Molecular mimicry in T cell*mediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. Cell, 1995. **80**(5): p. 695-705.
- 112. Wucherpfennig, K.W., *Mechanisms for the induction of autoimmunity by infectious agents*. J Clin Invest, 2001. **108**(8): p. 1097-104.

- 113. Wucherpfennig, K.W., Infectious triggers for inflammatory neurological diseases. Nat Med, 2002. 8(5): p. 455-7.
- 114. Ebers, G.C., et al., *A population-based study of multiple sclerosis in twins*. N Engl J Med, 1986. **315**(26): p. 1638-42.
- 115. Ebers, G.C., A.D. Sadovnick, and N.J. Risch, A genetic basis for familial aggregation in multiple sclerosis. Canadian Collaborative Study Group. Nature, 1995. **377**(6545): p. 150-1.
- 116. Hickey, W.F., *The pathology of multiple sclerosis: a historical perspective*. J Neuroimmunol, 1999. **98**(1): p. 37-44.
- 117. Kornek, B., et al., *Multiple sclerosis and chronic autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a comparative quantitative study of axonal injury in active, inactive, and remyelinated lesions.* Am J Pathol, 2000. **157**(1): p. 267-76.
- 118. Hemmer, B., J.J. Archelos, and H.P. Hartung, *New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis.* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2002. **3**(4): p. 291-301.
- 119. Hemmer, B., et al., *Pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: an update on immunology*. Curr Opin Neurol, 2002. **15**(3): p. 227-31.
- 120. Lassmann, H., *Classification of demyelinating diseases at the interface between etiology and pathogenesis.* Curr Opin Neurol, 2001. **14**(3): p. 253-8.
- Davidson, A. and B. Diamond, *Autoimmune diseases*. N Engl J Med, 2001.
 345(5): p. 340-50.
- Steinman, L., *Multiple sclerosis: a two-stage disease*. Nat Immunol, 2001. 2(9): p. 762-4.
- 123. Lassmann, H., W. Bruck, and C. Lucchinetti, *Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis pathogenesis: implications for diagnosis and therapy.* Trends Mol Med, 2001. 7(3): p. 115-21.
- 124. Ransohoff, R.M. and K.B. Bacon, *Chemokine receptor antagonism as a new therapy for multiple sclerosis*. Expert Opin Investig Drugs, 2000. **9**(5): p. 1079-97.
- 125. Kivisakk, P., et al., *Chemokine-based therapies for MS: how do we get there from here?* Trends Immunol, 2001. **22**(11): p. 591-3.
- 126. Mahad, D., et al., *Modulating CCR2 and CCL2 at the blood-brain barrier: relevance for multiple sclerosis pathogenesis.* Brain, 2005. **24**: p. 24.
- 127. Miyagishi, R., et al., Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis and other inflammatory neurological diseases. J Neurol Sci, 1995. **129**(2): p. 223-7.
- 128. McManus, C., et al., *MCP-1*, *MCP-2* and *MCP-3* expression in multiple sclerosis lesions: an immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization study. J Neuroimmunol, 1998. **86**(1): p. 20-9.
- 129. Hulshof, S., et al., *CX3CL1 and CX3CR1 expression in human brain tissue: noninflammatory control versus multiple sclerosis.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2003. **62**(9): p. 899-907.
- 130. Kivisakk, P., et al., *Expression of CCR2, CCR5, and CXCR3 by CD4+ T cells is stable during a 2-year longitudinal study but varies widely between individuals.* J Neurovirol, 2003. **9**(3): p. 291-9.
- Bruck, W., et al., *Macrophages in multiple sclerosis*. Immunobiology, 1996.
 195(4-5): p. 588-600.

- 132. Lucchinetti, C.F., et al., *Multiple sclerosis: lessons from neuropathology*. Semin Neurol, 1998. **18**(3): p. 337-49.
- 133. Lucchinetti, C., et al., *Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination.* Ann Neurol, 2000. **47**(6): p. 707-17.
- 134. Trebst, C. and R.M. Ransohoff, *Investigating chemokines and chemokine receptors in patients with multiple sclerosis: opportunities and challenges*. Arch Neurol, 2001. **58**(12): p. 1975-80.
- 135. Trebst, C., et al., *Chemokine receptors on mononuclear phagocytes in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis.* Ernst Schering Res Found Workshop, 2002. **39**: p. 193-211.
- 136. Sunnemark, D., et al., *Differential expression of the chemokine receptors CX3CR1 and CCR1 by microglia and macrophages in myelin-oligodendrocyteglycoprotein-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* Brain Pathol, 2003. **13**(4): p. 617-29.
- 137. Li, H., M.L. Cuzner, and J. Newcombe, *Microglia-derived macrophages in early multiple sclerosis plaques*. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 1996. **22**(3): p. 207-15.
- 138. Brosnan, C.F., M.B. Bornstein, and B.R. Bloom, *The effects of macrophage depletion on the clinical and pathologic expression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* J Immunol., 1981. **126**(2): p. 614-20.
- 139. Brosnan, C.F. and C.S. Raine, *Mechanisms of immune injury in multiple sclerosis*. Brain Pathol, 1996. **6**(3): p. 243-57.
- 140. Lucchinetti, C.F., et al., *Distinct patterns of multiple sclerosis pathology indicates heterogeneity on pathogenesis.* Brain Pathol, 1996. **6**(3): p. 259-74.
- Huitinga, I., et al., Suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats after elimination of macrophages. J Exp Med, 1990. 172(4): p. 1025-33.
- 142. Heppner, F.L., et al., *Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis repressed by microglial paralysis*. Nat Med, 2005. **11**(2): p. 146-52. Epub 2005 Jan 23.
- 143. Lassmann, H., *Neuropathology in multiple sclerosis: new concepts*. Mult Scler, 1998. **4**(3): p. 93-8.
- 144. McFarland, H.F., *The lesion in multiple sclerosis: clinical, pathological, and magnetic resonance imaging considerations.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1998. 64 Suppl 1: p. S26-30.
- 145. Compston, A., *The 150th anniversary of the first depiction of the lesions of multiple sclerosis.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1988. **51**(10): p. 1249-52.
- 146. Gay, F.W., et al., *The application of multifactorial cluster analysis in the staging of plaques in early multiple sclerosis. Identification and characterization of the primary demyelinating lesion.* Brain, 1997. **120**(Pt 8): p. 1461-83.
- 147. Woodroofe, M.N. and M.L. Cuzner, *Cytokine mRNA expression in inflammatory multiple sclerosis lesions: detection by non-radioactive in situ hybridization.* Cytokine, 1993. **5**(6): p. 583-8.
- Soffer, D. and C.S. Raine, Morphologic analysis of axo-glial membrane specializations in the demyelinated central nervous system. Brain Res, 1980. 186(2): p. 301-13.

- 149. Kuhlmann, T., et al., Acute axonal damage in multiple sclerosis is most extensive in early disease stages and decreases over time. Brain, 2002. **125**(Pt 10): p. 2202-12.
- Neuhaus, O., J.J. Archelos, and H.P. Hartung, *Immunomodulation in multiple sclerosis: from immunosuppression to neuroprotection*. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 2003. 24(3): p. 131-8.
- 151. Prineas, J.W., et al., *Multiple sclerosis. Pathology of recurrent lesions*. Brain, 1993. **116**(Pt 3): p. 681-93.
- 152. Carroll, W.M., A.R. Jennings, and L.J. Ironside, *Identification of the adult* resting progenitor cell by autoradiographic tracking of oligodendrocyte precursors in experimental CNS demyelination. Brain, 1998. **121**(Pt 2): p. 293-302.
- 153. Paty, D.W., Ultrasound measurement of brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol, 2000. **57**(9): p. 1264.
- 154. Wolinsky, J.S., et al., *Linomide in relapsing and secondary progressive MS:* part II: MRI results. MRI Analysis Center of the University of Texas-Houston, Health Science Center, and the North American Linomide Investigators. Neurology, 2000. **54**(9): p. 1734-41.
- 155. Noseworthy, J.H., et al., *Multiple sclerosis*. N Engl J Med., 2000. **343**(13): p. 938-52.
- 156. Johnson, K.P., et al., Copolymer 1 reduces relapse rate and improves disability in relapsing- remitting multiple sclerosis: results of a phase III multicenter, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. The Copolymer 1 Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Neurology, 1995. **45**(7): p. 1268-76.
- 157. Hohlfeld, R., Inhibitors of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: promising agents for the treatment of multiple sclerosis? Mult Scler, 1996. 1(6): p. 376-8.
- 158. Wiendl, H. and R. Hohlfeld, *Therapeutic approaches in multiple sclerosis: lessons from failed and interrupted treatment trials.* BioDrugs, 2002. **16**(3): p. 183-200.
- 159. Steinman, L., *Immunotherapy of multiple sclerosis: the end of the beginning*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2001. **13**(5): p. 597-600.
- 160. Hohlfeld, R., et al., *The neuroprotective effect of inflammation: implications for the therapy of multiple sclerosis.* J Neuroimmunol, 2000. **107**(2): p. 161-6.
- 161. Godessart, N. and S.L. Kunkel, *Chemokines in autoimmune disease*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2001. **13**(6): p. 670-5.
- 162. Horuk, R., et al., *CCR1-specific non-peptide antagonist: efficacy in a rabbit allograft rejection model.* Immunol Lett, 2001. **76**(3): p. 193-201.
- Liang, M., et al., Identification and characterization of a potent, selective, and orally active antagonist of the CC chemokine receptor-1. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(25): p. 19000-8.
- 164. Zipp, F., et al., *Blockade of chemokine signaling in patients with multiple sclerosis.* Neurology., 2006. **67**(10): p. 1880-3.
- 165. Elices, M.J., BX-471 Berlex. Curr Opin Investig Drugs., 2002. 3(6): p. 865-9.
- 166. Vaidehi, N., et al., Predictions of CCR1 chemokine receptor structure and BX 471 antagonist binding followed by experimental validation. J Biol Chem., 2006. 281(37): p. 27613-20. Epub 2006 Jul 12.
- 167. Pease, J.E. and R. Horuk, *CCR1 antagonists in clinical development*. Expert Opin Investig Drugs, 2005. **14**(7): p. 785-96.

- 168. Amor, S., et al., *Identification of epitopes of myelin oligodendrocyte* glycoprotein for the induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in SJL and Biozzi AB/H mice. J Immunol, 1994. **153**(10): p. 4349-56.
- 169. Wilcox, J.N., *Fundamental principles of in situ hybridization*. J Histochem Cytochem, 1993. **41**(12): p. 1725-33.
- Grino, M. and A.J. Zamora, An in situ hybridization histochemistry technique allowing simultaneous visualization by the use of confocal microscopy of three cellular mRNA species in individual neurons. J Histochem Cytochem, 1998. 46(6): p. 753-9.
- 171. Whiteland, J.L., et al., *Immunohistochemical detection of T-cell subsets and other leukocytes in paraffin-embedded rat and mouse tissues with monoclonal antibodies*. J Histochem Cytochem, 1995. **43**(3): p. 313-20.
- 172. Bourque, W.T., M. Gross, and B.K. Hall, A histological processing technique that preserves the integrity of calcified tissues (bone, enamel), yolky amphibian embryos, and growth factor antigens in skeletal tissue. J Histochem Cytochem, 1993. **41**(9): p. 1429-34.
- 173. van den Pol, A.N., *Colloidal gold and biotin-avidin conjugates as ultrastructural markers for neural antigens.* Q J Exp Physiol, 1984. **69**(1): p. 1-33.
- 174. Gendelman, H.E., et al., *Selection of a fixative for identifying T cell subsets, B cells, and macrophages in paraffin-embedded mouse spleen.* J Immunol Methods, 1983. **65**(1-2): p. 137-45.
- 175. Cloez-Tayarani, I. and G. Fillion, *The in situ hybridization and immunocytochemistry techniques for characterization of cells expressing specific mRNAs in paraffin-embedded brains.* Brain Res Brain Res Protoc, 1997. **1**(2): p. 195-202.
- 176. Swanson, L.W. and D.M. Simmons, *Differential steroid hormone and neural influences on peptide mRNA levels in CRH cells of the paraventricular nucleus: a hybridization histochemical study in the rat.* J Comp Neurol, 1989. **285**(4): p. 413-35.
- 177. Bruck, W., et al., *Monocyte/macrophage differentiation in early multiple sclerosis lesions*. Ann Neurol, 1995. **38**(5): p. 788-96.
- 178. Trebst, C., et al., CCR1+/CCR5+ mononuclear phagocytes accumulate in the central nervous system of patients with multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol., 2001. 159(5): p. 1701-10.
- 179. Baranzini, S.E., et al., *Transcriptional analysis of multiple sclerosis brain lesions reveals a complex pattern of cytokine expression*. J Immunol, 2000. 165(11): p. 6576-82.
- 180. Karpus, W.J., et al., An important role for the chemokine macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha in the pathogenesis of the T cell-mediated autoimmune disease, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol, 1995. **155**(10): p. 5003-10.
- 181. Karpus, W.J. and K.J. Kennedy, *MIP-1alpha and MCP-1 differentially regulate* acute and relapsing autoimmune encephalomyelitis as well as *Th1/Th2* lymphocyte differentiation. J Leukoc Biol, 1997. **62**(5): p. 681-7.
- 182. Godiska, R., et al., *Chemokine expression in murine experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* J Neuroimmunol, 1995. **58**(2): p. 167-76.

- 183. Barnes, D.A., et al., *Polyclonal antibody directed against human RANTES ameliorates disease in the Lewis rat adjuvant-induced arthritis model.* J Clin Invest, 1998. **101**(12): p. 2910-9.
- 184. Rottman, J.B., et al., *Leukocyte recruitment during onset of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis is CCR1 dependent*. Eur J Immunol, 2000. **30**(8): p. 2372-7.
- 185. Izikson, L., et al., *Targeting monocyte recruitment in CNS autoimmune disease*. Clin Immunol, 2002. **103**(2): p. 125-31.
- 186. Harrison, J.K., et al., *Role for neuronally derived fractalkine in mediating interactions between neurons and CX3CR1-expressing microglia.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(18): p. 10896-901.
- 187. Jiang, Y., et al., *Chemokine receptor expression in cultured glia and rat experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* J Neuroimmunol, 1998. **86**(1): p. 1-12.
- 188. Hughes, P.M., et al., *Expression of fractalkine (CX3CL1) and its receptor, CX3CR1, during acute and chronic inflammation in the rodent CNS.* Glia, 2002. **37**(4): p. 314-27.
- 189. Zujovic, V. and V. Taupin, Use of cocultured cell systems to elucidate chemokine-dependent neuronal/microglial interactions: control of microglial activation. Methods, 2003. **29**(4): p. 345-50.
- 190. Hatori, K., et al., *Fractalkine and fractalkine receptors in human neurons and glial cells.* J Neurosci Res, 2002. **69**(3): p. 418-26.
- 191. Zujovic, V., et al., *Fractalkine modulates TNF-alpha secretion and neurotoxicity induced by microglial activation.* Glia, 2000. **29**(4): p. 305-15.
- 192. Zujovic, V., et al., In vivo neutralization of endogenous brain fractalkine increases hippocampal TNFalpha and 8-isoprostane production induced by intracerebroventricular injection of LPS. J Neuroimmunol, 2001. 115(1-2): p. 135-43.
- 193. Jee, Y., et al., Upregulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 and CC chemokine receptor 2 in the central nervous system is closely associated with relapse of autoimmune encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats. J Neuroimmunol, 2002. 128(1-2): p. 49-57.
- 194. Sorensen, T.L. and F. Sellebjerg, *Distinct chemokine receptor and cytokine expression profile in secondary progressive MS.* Neurology, 2001. **57**(8): p. 1371-6.
- 195. Kivisakk, P., et al., *T-cells in the cerebrospinal fluid express a similar repertoire of inflammatory chemokine receptors in the absence or presence of CNS inflammation: implications for CNS trafficking.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2002. 129(3): p. 510-8.
- 196. Mahad, D.J., et al., *Expression of chemokine receptors CCR1 and CCR5 reflects differential activation of mononuclear phagocytes in pattern II and pattern III multiple sclerosis lesions.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2004. **63**(3): p. 262-73.
- 197. Kennedy, K.J., et al., Acute and relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis are regulated by differential expression of the CC chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha and monocyte chemotactic protein-1. J Neuroimmunol, 1998. **92**(1-2): p. 98-108.

- 198. Izikson, L., et al., *Resistance to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice lacking the CC chemokine receptor (CCR)2.* J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(7): p. 1075-80.
- 199. Gu, L., et al., Control of TH2 polarization by the chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. Nature, 2000. **404**(6776): p. 407-11.
- 200. Tran, E.H., W.A. Kuziel, and T. Owens, Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice deficient in either the chemokine macrophage inflammatory protein-lalpha or its CCR5 receptor. Eur J Immunol, 2000. 30(5): p. 1410-5.
- 201. Youssef, S., et al., Long-lasting protective immunity to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis following vaccination with naked DNA encoding C-C chemokines. J Immunol, 1998. 161(8): p. 3870-9.
- Haringman, J.J., et al., *Chemokine blockade and chronic inflammatory disease:* proof of concept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis, 2003.
 62(8): p. 715-21.
- 203. Schwarz, M.K. and T.N. Wells, *New therapeutics that modulate chemokine networks*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2002. **1**(5): p. 347-58.
- 204. Khan, I.A., et al., *Mice lacking the chemokine receptor CCR1 show increased* susceptibility to Toxoplasma gondii infection. J Immunol, 2001. **166**(3): p. 1930-7.
- 205. Piehl, F. and O. Lidman, *Neuroinflammation in the rat--CNS cells and their role in the regulation of immune reactions*. Immunol Rev, 2001. **184**: p. 212-25.
- 206. Song, H., C.F. Stevens, and F.H. Gage, *Astroglia induce neurogenesis from adult neural stem cells*. Nature, 2002. **417**(6884): p. 39-44.
- 207. Svendsen, C.N., The amazing astrocyte. Nature, 2002. 417(6884): p. 29-32.
- 208. Aldskogius, H., [Microglia--new target cells for neurological therapy]. Lakartidningen, 2000. 97(30-31): p. 3358-62.
- 209. Hickey, W.F. and H. Kimura, *Perivascular microglial cells of the CNS are bone marrow-derived and present antigen in vivo*. Science, 1988. 239(4837): p. 290-2.
- 210. Wingerchuk, D.M., C.F. Lucchinetti, and J.H. Noseworthy, *Multiple sclerosis: current pathophysiological concepts*. Lab Invest, 2001. **81**(3): p. 263-81.
- 211. Mizoue, L.S., et al., *Molecular determinants of receptor binding and signaling* by the CX3C chemokine fractalkine. J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(36): p. 33906-14.
- 212. Kastenbauer, S., et al., *CSF and serum levels of soluble fractalkine (CX(3)CL1) in inflammatory diseases of the nervous system.* J Neuroimmunol, 2003. 137(1-2): p. 210-7.
- 213. Maciejewski-Lenoir, D., et al., *Characterization of fractalkine in rat brain cells: migratory and activation signals for CX3CR-1-expressing microglia.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(3): p. 1628-35.
- 214. Mizuno, T., et al., *Production and neuroprotective functions of fractalkine in the central nervous system.* Brain Res, 2003. **979**(1-2): p. 65-70.
- 215. Fraticelli, P., et al., *Fractalkine (CX3CL1) as an amplification circuit of polarized Th1 responses.* J Clin Invest, 2001. **107**(9): p. 1173-81.
- 216. Nanki, T., et al., Migration of CX3CR1-positive T cells producing type 1 cytokines and cytotoxic molecules into the synovium of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum, 2002. **46**(11): p. 2878-83.

- 217. Nishimura, M., et al., *Dual functions of fractalkine/CX3C ligand 1 in trafficking of perforin+/granzyme B+ cytotoxic effector lymphocytes that are defined by CX3CR1 expression.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(12): p. 6173-80.
- 218. Al-Aoukaty, A., et al., *MIP-3alpha*, *MIP-3beta and fractalkine induce the locomotion and the mobilization of intracellular calcium, and activate the heterotrimeric G proteins in human natural killer cells*. Immunology, 1998. **95**(4): p. 618-24.
- 219. Jung, S., et al., *Analysis of fractalkine receptor CX(3)CR1 function by targeted deletion and green fluorescent protein reporter gene insertion.* Mol Cell Biol, 2000. **20**(11): p. 4106-14.
- 220. Huang, D., et al., *The neuronal chemokine CX3CL1/fractalkine selectively recruits NK cells that modify experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis within the central nervous system.* Faseb J, 2006. **20**(7): p. 896-905.
- 221. Hanisch, U.K., *Microglia as a source and target of cytokines*. Glia, 2002. **40**(2): p. 140-55.
- 222. Cook, D.N., et al., *Generation and analysis of mice lacking the chemokine fractalkine*. Mol Cell Biol, 2001. **21**(9): p. 3159-65.
- 223. Soriano, S.G., et al., *Mice deficient in fractalkine are less susceptible to cerebral ischemia- reperfusion injury.* J Neuroimmunol, 2002. **125**(1-2): p. 59-65.
- 224. Haskell, C.A., et al., *Targeted deletion of CX(3)CR1 reveals a role for fractalkine in cardiac allograft rejection.* J Clin Invest, 2001. **108**(5): p. 679-88.
- 225. Cardona, A.E., et al., *Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor*. Nat Neurosci, 2006. **9**(7): p. 917-24.
- 226. Boring, L., et al., Impaired monocyte migration and reduced type 1 (Th1) cytokine responses in C-C chemokine receptor 2 knockout mice. J Clin Invest, 1997. **100**(10): p. 2552-61.
- 227. Mack, M., et al., *Expression and characterization of the chemokine receptors CCR2 and CCR5 in mice*. J Immunol, 2001. **166**(7): p. 4697-704.
- 228. Mahad, D.J. and R.M. Ransohoff, *The role of MCP-1 (CCL2) and CCR2 in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)*. Semin Immunol, 2003. **15**(1): p. 23-32.
- 229. Huang, D., et al., Chronic expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in the central nervous system causes delayed encephalopathy and impaired microglial function in mice. Faseb J, 2005. **19**(7): p. 761-72.
- 230. Fife, B.T., et al., *CC chemokine receptor 2 is critical for induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(6): p. 899-905.
- 231. Huang, D.R., et al., Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in mice leads to decreased local macrophage recruitment and antigen-specific T helper cell type 1 immune response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med, 2001. 193(6): p. 713-26.
- 232. Ransohoff, R.M., et al., *Chemokines and chemokine receptors in model neurological pathologies: molecular and immunocytochemical approaches.* Methods Enzymol, 1997. **287**: p. 319-48.
- 233. Misu, T., et al., Chemokine receptor expression on T cells in blood and cerebrospinal fluid at relapse and remission of multiple sclerosis: imbalance of

Th1/Th2-associated chemokine signaling. J Neuroimmunol, 2001. **114**(1-2): p. 207-12.

- 234. Sorensen, T.L. and F. Sellebjerg, Selective suppression of chemokine receptor CXCR3 expression by interferon-beta1a in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler, 2002.
 8(2): p. 104-7.
- 235. Mahad, D., et al., *Modulating CCR2 and CCL2 at the blood-brain barrier: relevance for multiple sclerosis pathogenesis.* Brain., 2006. **129**(Pt 1): p. 212-23. Epub 2005 Oct 17.
- 236. Gu, L., S.C. Tseng, and B.J. Rollins, *Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1*. Chem Immunol, 1999. **72**: p. 7-29.
- 237. Brodmerkel, C.M., et al., *Discovery and Pharmacological Characterization of a Novel Rodent-Active CCR2 Antagonist, INCB3344.* J Immunol, 2005. 175(8): p. 5370-8.
- 238. Berger, T., et al., *Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: the antigen specificity of T lymphocytes determines the topography of lesions in the central and peripheral nervous system.* Lab Invest, 1997. **76**(3): p. 355-64.
- 239. Mantovani, A., et al., *The chemokine superfamily: crosstalk with the IL-1 system*. Immunobiology, 1996. **195**(4-5): p. 522-49.
- 240. Stoll, G. and S. Jander, *The role of microglia and macrophages in the pathophysiology of the CNS*. Prog Neurobiol, 1999. **58**(3): p. 233-47.
- 241. Sorensen, T.L., et al., *Expression of specific chemokines and chemokine receptors in the central nervous system of multiple sclerosis patients.* J Clin Invest, 1999. **103**(6): p. 807-15.
- 242. Loetscher, P., et al., CCR5 is characteristic of Th1 lymphocytes. Nature, 1998.
 391(6665): p. 344-5.
- 243. Bonecchi, R., et al., Differential expression of chemokine receptors and chemotactic responsiveness of type 1 T helper cells (Th1s) and Th2s. J Exp Med, 1998. **187**(1): p. 129-34.
- 244. Balashov, K.E., et al., CCR5(+) and CXCR3(+) T cells are increased in multiple sclerosis and their ligands MIP-1alpha and IP-10 are expressed in demyelinating brain lesions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. 96(12): p. 6873-8.
- 245. Simpson, J., et al., *Expression of the beta-chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 in multiple sclerosis central nervous system tissue.* J Neuroimmunol, 2000. **108**(1-2): p. 192-200.
- 246. Chao, C.C., et al., *Human microglial cell defense against Toxoplasma gondii*. *The role of cytokines*. J Immunol, 1994. **152**(3): p. 1246-52.
- 247. Pulkkinen, K., et al., *Increase in CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 genotype in multiple sclerosis*. Acta Neurol Scand., 2004. **109**(5): p. 342-7.
- 248. Bennetts, B.H., et al., *The CCR5 deletion mutation fails to protect against multiple sclerosis.* Hum Immunol, 1997. **58**(1): p. 52-9.
- 249. Sellebjerg, F., et al., *CCR5 delta32, matrix metalloproteinase-9 and disease activity in multiple sclerosis.* J Neuroimmunol, 2000. **102**(1): p. 98-106.
- 250. Barcellos, L.F., et al., *CC-chemokine receptor 5 polymorphism and age of onset in familial multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Group.* Immunogenetics, 2000. **51**(4-5): p. 281-8.
- 251. Ristic, S., et al., *No association of CCR5delta32 gene mutation with multiple sclerosis in Croatian and Slovenian patients.* Mult Scler., 2006. **12**(3): p. 360-2.

- 252. Strunk, T., et al., Increased numbers of CCR5+ interferon-gamma- and tumor necrosis factor- alpha-secreting T lymphocytes in multiple sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol, 2000. 47(2): p. 269-73.
- 253. Fox, R.J., et al., *Chemokine receptors as biomarkers in multiple sclerosis*. Dis Markers, 2006. **22**(4): p. 227-33.